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| | Lauch]an Madcmtcsh to Hjs Excellmcy the Governour,
' Letter dated Cachgos, 6th of August, 1754

~/Honorasrr St, I thought it'my Dity:to acquaint your Excéllency what
News -we: have jin-.this :Upper .Creek- -Nation. - About ten-days ago.-Dewal’s
Landlotd is-gorie to ‘War trith forty of hi“own Warriotrs and" ‘twenty: Matiting
and .10 [Brecd?]‘ Indians to War agmnst the Flatts,~aAd -the Wolf:has -sent
Runners over the Nation to all such as want to War. it the’ Flatts to call“in
all:thern Indians imediately with all Speed otherwise"hié iwould -raise” sorge ‘of
his-Wartioiirs and go'and kill the Mantins. The-Old Red Coat: King says ke
Beleives:that the Wolf ismad aftér makeingsuch large: Promisses to'the Eniglish
King,and the Old Réd Coat King: says he will never forget his Prothise tosyour
Excellency;’ and thc Gun Mcrchant A8 s very much d:sansﬁed Wlth the' WolPs
Proceedings. **

. This Day ‘came’ lnfo the Oakfuskcc Town ﬁ&ecn of thé Mantm Ind.ta.ns
in order to‘haves a Mectmg with all the Head Mef in‘the Uppér Créek’ Nation
to get the Péiice tonfirmed betwwixt them and thé Creeks, All the Head Men
seém to ‘oppose the Wolf in his Proceedings, I have no further News here
worth acquainting, and I am with great Esteem, Honorable Sir,

Your most humble Servant,
(signed) LaucHrAN MACHINTOSH
-1 beg your Excellency would be so kind as to let the Bearer know which
Way I am to be pmd the Money promised me by your Exoellency

AFF IDAVIT OF JOHN SHAW

Aﬂidav:t of John Shaw conocrmng the Sntuatlon of the Inhabitants. of
Virginia near,the Ohio.

.+ Before me _Iames Glen, Esq . Govcrnor and Comander in Cheif in and
over Hi$ Majesty’s Province of South Ca.rolma personally appeared John Shaw
who being. duly sworn on}the Holy Evangelists made Oath that he was born
in Dublin in. the Kingdom of Ireland, that he is of the Age of twenty Years
and upwards, t@athehasusedd\eScascvcraiYcars that he was a Boy on
board ‘His Majesty’s’ Ship Expidifion, Captain Summers, but 'was dischiarged
fror her at the bresking up of the late War, *and has since béen employed-in
thé Meérchints Service in the 'Vifginia ‘Trade. That be was in Vitginia when
Proposala were ‘miade and publishéd to g1ve Encouragcmcnt for ﬁ:tthhg somnie

1 In gh_e_ omgr.pal, the.namc here is “Bride,”:but “Breed” is written abovc it.
3
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Lands on the Ohio, and that he was one amongst many others that embraced
the said Proposals and he beleives there might be 100 in all. But it being
found necessary that some Force should be raised they were [2| thrown into
the Virginia Regiment as few or none would enlist and were Volunteers.
There were also twenty-two Gentlemans’ Sons or thereabouts that made a Part
of the said Regiment as Cadetfs, but he beleivés they vwere to feceive no Pay,
but all the Volunteers who were to settle the Lands were to have eight Pence
per Day Virginia Currency, but that he never received one Farthing though
he was above five' Months in the Service. _
That Col. Washington marched with the first Detachment of that Regi-
ment over the Allegennie Mountains some Days before the Detachment that
he belonged to followed. That the Detachment the Deponent belonged to con-
sisted but of eighty Men and when they were all joined the whole Virginia
Regiment including Cadetts and Volunteers did not amount to two hundred
Men. Four or five Days after the Virginia Regiment had been altogether at a
Place called the Great Meadows they were joined by- Captam Mackay with
the Independant Company“from South Carolina, makeing in the whole with
the aforesaid Regiment a Body of near three hundred Men. That they were
for several Days together without any other Provisions than a Quart of Indian
Corn delivered to each Man and for three Days with only one Pound of Beef
without any Corn. That he has heard the Wolf King had sixty Indians with
him who.were in, our Interest, but that he never saw above forty. That he has
been informed.by all the Men who belonged to the first Detachment that a
fcw Days before the Second joined them they had had an Engagment with a
of the French.and the Account given to him was as follows: That an
Indian and a White Man haveing brou§ht Col. Washmgton Information that
a Party of French consisting of five thirty Men were out [scouting] and
lay about six Miles off upon which Col. Washington with about forty Men and
Capt. Hogg with ‘2 Party of forty more and the Half King with his Indians
consisting of thirteen imediately set out in search of them, but haveing takeén
different Roads Col. Washmgton with his Men and the Indians first came up
with them and found them encamped between two Hills, being early in the
morning some were asleep and some eating, but haveing hmrd a Noise they
~were imediately in great Confusion and betook themselves to’ ‘their Arms and
as this Deponent has heard one of them fired a Gun upon whith ‘Col. ‘Wash-
ington gave the Word for all his Wen to, fire. Several of theid bcmg"ﬁl]ed
the Rést betook themselves to flight, but our Indians havéing gone rotind the
French when they saw them imediately fled back to the English and delivered
up their Arms desireing Quarter which was accordmgly prormsed them.
Some Time after the Indians came up the Half King took- his Tomahawk
andsphttheHeadoftheFrenchCaptmnhavmngﬁrstashedthewasan
Englishman end haveing been told he was a French Man. . He then took out
hstraunsandwashedhmHa.nds mththcmmdthcnscalpedhun. All this
he has heard and never heard it contradicted but knows nothing of it from his
own Knowledge only he has seen the Bones of the Frenchmen who were killed
in Number about 13 or 14 and the Head of one stuck upon a Stick for none of
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them were bumed, a.nd he has also heard 1hat one of our’ Men was killed at
that Time,' .. : .

u That some Time a.fter Capt. Mzckay ‘had joined the Vifgini Reg-unent,
Col ashington proposed to riarch to attack the French ort and aocordmg}y '
marched with: the; Virginia Regiment to clear the-Roads leaving Capt. Maceay
behind,‘at: the Gredt-Meadows. That théy cleared the Roads about twelvc
Miles haveing been on that Service three Days; and then News haveing been
brought by two Indians that the French haveing been reinforeed ‘with a large
Body -of Men :were .comeing to attack them with nine hundred Men, Orders
- were imediately sent to recall all Parties; and also that Capt, . Mackay should

advange with his Company which he accordingly did, and haveing joined them
aboutitwo in the Morning they marched all back to the Great Méadows burry-
ing in,the Woods what Part of their Ammaunition they ¢ould rot cary with them.

. They continued at.the Great Meadows three Days-before the French
ame tg: attack thcm, and in the Morning. before the Engagement they en-
deavoured to. throw up a little Intrenchment round them about two Foot deep,
but could not finish it as the French a.ppmred betwixt nine and ten in the Morn-
ing. -We had Centinals placed out to give Notice of the Approach of the
French, one of which fired his Peice imediately after the French began to fire,
bt bemg still 4t a considerable Distance and did us no hurt, Our.Men were
drawn up, ‘before the French but did not fire, the French still’ kccpmg at a
Distarice. They then turned of to a Point of Wood that lay very near our Men
upon which our .Men went into their little Intrenchments upon which the
French made a general Discharge, but our Men having kept up their Fire their
Indians were thereby encouraged to advance out of the Wood, and show them.
selves pritty near where our Men lay. Upon which Col. Waahm ton gave
the Word to fire which was accordingly done and many of the Incﬁans were
killed, our People baving two swivel Guns which were discharged at the same
Time. After this neither French nor Indians appeared any more but kept
behind Trees firing at our Men the best Part of the Day, as our People did at
them; there was at this Place a smal Stocado-Fort made in a circilar Form
round a smal House that stood in the Middle of it to keep our Provisions and
Ammuntion in, and was covered with Bark and some Skins and might be about
14 Feet. square 20d the Walls of the Fort might be about 8 Feet distance from
the said House all round. The French were at that Time so neat that many
of our People were wounded by the Splinters cut off by the Bullets from the
smd House.

'All Night the French' desired to parly with our People, but Col. Wash-
ington reEused, imagining it might be some Deceit. However, upon the Assur-
rances given by the French that they would act honourably, Capt. Vambram
and Adjutant Pyronie ‘were seat to them, and were told by them, that they
were to be reinforced in the Morning by 400 Indizns who lay about 12 Miles
off, and: then it would not be in their Power to give them Quarters, advised
them therefor to capitulate, that they should be permitted to return Home with
their Arms and to carry with them what Provisions and Ammuntion they could
carry, but they should engage that none of them should be seen upon the Waters
of the Ohio for a Year and a Day afterwards, and if that they agreed to these
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Terms they should hoist no Colours ‘the next Morning: This was accordingly
agreed to and signed by Col. Washington, and agreed to by all the Officers,
and- accordingly neéxt Morning we -hoisted no Colours; and:as soon as it was
DaytheFrenchandthurInd:a.usmmemaBodyb&&ngtthrumsand
formed themselves into two Ranks that our People might:pgass’ through which
they accordingly did with their {4| Drums beating mth their Arms) and ‘whole
Provisions, and Ammuntion they could carry, but. wé were- obliged: to leave
behind our swivel Guns and some Arms which soon after were destroyed-and
broke to Pieces by their Indians, such: of our. Men that were inthat little Fort
having broke the Heads of the Powder: Barrels and strown it about that it
might be of no Service to the French. We were also obliged to leave with
them Capt. Vambram, and Capt: Robert Stobo as Hostages for the Delivery
of the twenty-one Prisoners that had been taken by Coli Washington’s Men as
this Deponent has related above who-were then at Williamsburgh, :

That the French bad been joined that Morning by above® orie hundred
French Indians who could hardly be restrained by them from fal.hng on’“our
People.

This Deponent has heard that some Dutchmen who was a.long with the
French told some Dutchmen who was with us that they had lost three hundred
Men, but does not know that of his own Knowledge, but believes they lost'a
great many as our People constantly kept firing at them the whole Day; of our -
Side there were ten ofp the Cirolina Company killed, of wh: m Lieut. Meruer
was oné, and twenty belongmg to the Vifgmia’ chimcnt hére were also 2
gréat many wounded whom our People catryed away with them the first days
~ Maich, but then were obliged to'leave them, and a Patty with them to ‘take
care- of them till Horses could be sent for them, but he has heard that seven
of them died the first N':ght.

This Deponent then marched on with the rest.of our. Mcn to. Wills Crwk
but were obliged to leave all their Stores and Baggage behind them. At Wills -
Creek sixteen of the Volunteers of the Virginia Regiment went in a Body to
Col. Washington telling him that as they came to settle the Lands which, they
had now no more Thought of doing they were determined to retpen. Home,
Col. Washington endeavoured to perswade [them] to stay, pro;mémg ta procure
them some Gratuity from the Government of Virgini for all their, Trouble
and LO$€S, but he could not prev:ul mth ‘them for: tﬁcy qut OE mn a Bocf
Soon after he and Capt. Mad:ay st out for Williamsburgh, and ‘after ‘he ‘was
gone the: Men went. off daily in twos and threes 8o that he verily belwa there
were full two-thn*ds of them gone when he, this Deponcnt, ame off. .

Some of .the Indians who .were in our Int;rwt some - Days,. beforc t.he
Engagement under Pretence of, making: some Discovery .went towards the.
French Fort and meeting a French Party were told that if they would. siot fight
against the English they would scalp them upon which they all turned to tke
French, The Half King however with their Women and Children in Number
about thirty came with our People to Wills Creek from which many of them
set off‘for a Place called’ Jemmy Arther in’Pensilvania where they intended
to live for Fear of being killed by the other Indians on the Ohio and in those
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Parts. being i the Frénch Interest. -And thm Deponefit decldres that* there
wis -not one Indidn with our Pesple in' the Engagmént; the two that brotght
the: News of ‘the Approach of the French havm’g immeédiately ‘set- oﬁ e.ftcr
deixvenng !chat Intetigence.

Sworn 21st of ‘August, 1754
befbre me Peter Le:gh

Jorn'B W Squ’s Mark

LACHLAN McGILLIVRAY TO GOVERNOR GLEN

Is| - " New Wmdsor Scptc:pber 8th, 1754

May it PLBASE YOUR EXCELLENCY The latest Aocounts here ; f'rom the
Creek' Nation mfofm us that i Number of Cherrockees were arrived in’ the
Upper Creeks sométime last Motith who weré joined by Deval’s Landlord and
a congldex‘able dey of that Natioh, and fitted out to War ‘agdinst the Frénch
Pa’rty bf *hacktaws.” “This i Hle imppy Effects of your Excel[ency"s unwearyed

fice in umtmg those two Nations’ togedther. George Johnston, lately
from the Creeks, reports that the' Woolf, doubtless set on by the French is the
only Man- that opposes 2 War with the Chactaws and said that he will break
ot War with the Cherroekees in case his Nation persists in 8 Chactaw War.

A Spanish Agent has been for some Time at the Covetaws. 'In August
last his Bussiness was to puréhasc the Appalatchx Old Towns, but hopes he wﬂl
meet with no Sibcesd.: *

I am credibly informed ‘that John Toumer, late under Malatchi’s Protec-
tion at the Covetaws, set ‘6ut from thence last Month for the Albama Fort,
There is a fiying Report prevails here'by one Cornelius Cook from the Cher-
roekees, that the Remains of the brave Chickesaw Nation propose to evacuate
their Country, one Part of them to take Shelter amongst the Creeks, and the
other Part amongst the Cherroekees. This wants Confirmation, and I hope
not true, but if so I humbly beg Leave to insinuate that 1 wish they might all
take Shelter amongst the Upper Creeks, because in all moral Probabxl.Lty they.
would involve'thé Creeks in a War with the French Indians, and in Time would
occasion a Breach betwéen our natural Enemies the French-and-the Creek
Nation which would inviolably attach.that Nation to the British Interest.

Iam your Excellency s most devoted and obedient humble Servant,

LacHLAN McGILLIVRAY

P. S. There is nothing but your Excellcncy’s express Command can ap-
pologies for scnd.mg you' the enclosed dirty and incorrect Pa.pér I hope you’ll
be plmse& to send it ‘back by the Bearer, Mr. Johnston, in order that I may
write it ‘over fair and correct it at my I.msure in the Indian Nation, for I can
assure. your Excellency that I am so_ hurryed singe my. Arrival, here about
settling our Company Aﬁmrs that 1 can. hardly spare Time to eat my Dmner

CHEROKEE HEAD MEN TO GOVERNOR GLEN

6| - . Septeiber the 218t, 1754
 MAY 1T PLRASE YOUR Excm.mxcv, All the Heéadmen of sgven Towns
met at Chivéttee. Old Hopp speaks ‘ih behalf- of them all and' retiirns your
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Excellency and beloved Men. hearty Thanks for the. Ammunition you sent up
to them by James Beamer which was safely' delivered to us, but we still desire
your Excellency to. supply us with the same Quantity more. Then we reckon
we shall have enough to withstand our Enemy which is- dmly on us; the white
People imprisoning the Savanahs has caused them to join the French against
us because we would not join the Savannahs against the English. This News
we have received lately which causes us to ask for more -Ammunition. = The
white People was to blame for i unpnsonmg the Savannahs which has caused us
to loose a great many of our People by it and don’t -know how soon we may
loose more; as for the War with the Virginia Péople that is upon another -
Branch, but the Savanahs has now joined the French, and they expect them
early in the Spring down another Branch of the Rlver, if not this Winter.
We always reckoned you to be our Brother. and has now found you to be
so and it is what he will to defend us and our Lands from. the.French: for we
and all our Lands belongs to the great, King Georgq1 over the great Water,
and knows ourselves under your Protection for my Boys 5. now almost. gone
and I am almost left alone, for the Enemy is like great Snakes lying on our
River Banks ready to devour us, and I am affraid we shall loose the Light of

the Sun and remain in Darkness for the Want of Guns and Ammunition to
defend ourselves from our Enemy.

his his
Owp Horp Tossery _____ TrrAsSEY
CHUKENANTA W aRRIOUR TosseTY _ OF SETTICOB
' his . his _
Srave CATCHER _ or Tenngssy Krrrerusstexey . oF Tarvassey
EMPRROR _____ Warziour ______ oF Togoa
Mark Mark

his his .
CaNORCORTURER _____ oF CHOETTERE SEQUROGHUENOY or TerLicOE

Mark Mark '

JAMES BEAMER TO GOVERNOR GLEN

: Stvptemlwr 22d, 1754

MAY IT HUMBLY PLEASE YOUR Excxu.m«cv, The People of Great Telliqua
made & heavy Complaint ‘acd desiréd I would acquaint”your Excelléncy that
Mr. Goudie uses theém very. ill, for I askéd White.* That" absoonasthesrhavc
any Skins he is with them, but as scon as their Skins is gone he is gone and
never comes to them again’ a8 other white Men do to their Towns till late in
Summer or towards tie Fall. Then he sends up his People and gives them
Orders not to to-ttist any, and the Enemy is g0 on them that they cannot-hunt
but in the Winter, and he will not trust them as other white Men do their
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People, which obliges them to do what they would not do if they were used
as other Indians is. Therefore they beg of your Excellency to allow them
another Trader for they say they used to have |7] two Traders formerly with
them.

I am further to inform your Exocll that the Compa.ny at Savana
Town has settled & Trade and Store in thé- Old ‘Towns where I did live in order
to trap the Hunters as they come in with Hunts which if they take that Liberty
1 don’t see why should be hindred from going to their Hunters in the Woods
to trade. I beg your Escellency will not Tet meé loose iy Bisiness which is all
from

Your Excellency’s most dutiful and obedient Servant to command,

James BRAMER

P. S. Great Telliqua looks to me as if it won’t stand long if they were not
better used: '

GOVERNOR GLEN TO KING MALATCHI

October 2d, 1754

My Goop FRiENDS AND LovING BrormEers, You are no Stranger to the
Pains I took to bring about 2 Peace betwixt the Creeks and Cherroekees and
Iam perfectly bappy in seeing my Labours crowned with Success. Both Na-
tions are pleased at bemg Friends and therefore I have Reason to hope the
Peace will last. Your Behaviour both in War and Peace hds been comendable.
You was not the Beginner or Promoter of the War, nor was you the first
Proposer of the Peace while the War subsisted. Your Courage and good Con-
duct made your own People love and follow you, and your Enemies fear and
fly from you, but the Part you acted at the concluding of the Peace was truly
becoming a great Man. 1 then saw the Goodness of your Heart and your
Behaviour at that Time and since has for ever secured to you the Esteem and
Respect of the English, and my sincere Love.

It would give me great Pleasure to see you down that we may renew the
Friendship that was then contracted betwixt you and me that I hope is never
to have an End it with our Lives; but I hope the strict Union that was ce-
mented betwixt the English and the Creek Nation will subsist many Years after
we are both dead. ‘The Beloved Men join with me in desiring a Visite from
our good Friend Malatchi, and I have writen for the Gun Merchant also to
come, and have desired hun to come by the Cowetas that you may come to-
gmther. You need fear no Enemy on your Towns in your Absence and the
Path is clear from Enemy. Charles Town is healthy, the Heats are over, and
even the Musquitoes are gone. I shall take Care that you be well lodged and
well provided for and you shall not be detained.” Pray bring no.Skins for a
Present but bring Horses both for the greater Dispatch and to help to carry”
up the Presents that I intend to give you. As many of your People will be
going out 2 hunting, I suppose 2 Headman or two, and some Warriours from.
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the Lower Creeks will be enough to a.ccompany you, but I leave this to your
Prudence. If you come soon I shall take it as the greater Favour 1 am, &c.

The Governor of Carolina '
To His Good Friend and Lovmg ijother

King Malstchi
INFORMATION OF GEORGE JOHNSTON

u 8| His Exoellency the Governor acqumnt:ed the Board that, Mr. Johnston,
licensed Trader for the Town Oakfuskee in the Upper Creek Nation, was
[lately] arrived from thence and had given: him some Accounts of some late
Transactions in that Nation which he had commltted to Writing, Mr. Johnston
being réconed a Person of Veracity, and that such Accounts when the Truth of
them could be depended upon were very. proper to be:preserved as they con-
tained the genuine influenced Sense of the Indians, not the Sentiments.of a few
of the Headmen, but of the whole Nation, for which Reason this Account was
ordered to be entered in the Book for Indian Affairs and s, s. follows:

That somé Months after the Peace was concluded and agreed to in Charles
Town betwixt the Creeks and Cherokees, three Cherokee Men arrived in the
Upper Creeks commissioned by their Nation to confirm and strenthen the Peace
in their Way, and it was agreed by both Nations there should be four such
mutual Visists, These three Men continued a consxderablc Time in the Creek
Nation and were well entertained there, and when they returned to théir own
Country they ‘were condicted thither by ten Creek Wartiours of note, among
‘whom were the ‘Red Coat ng’s Son, the Indian calléd the Handsom ‘Fellow,
and some “others of the Sécond Men. “That those havemg made some Stay
among the Cherokées were now retuined Home, and with' them came fourteen
ot fifteen Cherokeee, sorde of whom were principal Head' Men. 'That ime-
dmtely upon their ‘Arrival Expresses had béen sént all over the Upper Creek
Nationto summon the Head Men of every Town to meet at a certain Day
at the Town of Oakfuskee, and all the Traders were invited to be present.
That Mr. Johnston was present in the publick Square and heard every Thing
that passed, that he understands the Language a little, but one, of his Servants
st by him who.js a. Master of their. Tonge, and explained eyery Word_that
was said which 28:near as he can. reccolect, was, to the. following Purpose:..

The ten.Creeks gave an Account that they had [accompanyed]: the Chero-
l:ees back to their own, Country, that they, the Creeks, had been received by
the Cherokee Nation like Brothers and had been entertained. in the most kind
and affectionate Manper, that during their Stay there they had several Con-
ferenm and Talks, and that they had not only heard f.he;r Mout.hs but seen
theereqrts,andthatthcywerecertmtheyweresmce:ea,nd hearty in the
'P&ce, and it would now be the Fault of the Creeks if it was not a lash.ng one.

“ “The Head Man of the Cherokees. spoke nest and said that he had been
a.ppomFed by his. Nation to $¢¢ theif Brothers the Creeks Home in Safé
thathewasalsocommmonedtoconﬁrmﬁnd su-engthent.hePeaoe’ ad
concett-Measures of rendering it, if |9| possible, perpetual, that'it was not’ long
sincé they'had been at War and were daily killing and destréying éach ‘other,
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by which mieans, both Sides were weakened, and thongh he did-not doubt but
that, the .wise-Men -of both: Nations wished that it were otherwise,.yet it was
not-in. their.Power to bring.about a: Peace, that good Wotk was-the Work ; of
the’Governor:of .Carolina and had cost him, much Trouble and Paigs to bring
it about, that therefor it was doubly their Duty to preserve.it,that he had: for
magy Years ‘carefully -observed every. thing: the Governor said or drd, and
remembered every thing as if it-had passed. Yesterday, and he found it was all
calaulated for theu- Good: - When he made them any. Present of .Axes, Floes,
Kmm, Guns,'or: Ammumtan as he frequently did; he always: desired them
to hunt briskly to kill plenty of Deer, that with the -Skins:\théy.might buy
Cloaths for their 'Wives, and with the Flesh that they might feed their: Childiren,
that:they might grow up stout, Men and good Hunters-gnd that they might
become a ‘numerous and.powerfull People. That he heleived: the Fredch had
few Goods, but he had little Knowledge of them. - However he heard that they
sometlma ma.de small Presents but their Language was very- different;; it- was,
Xill 'and, destroy, bring us plenty of:Hair, plenty.of Scalps, this-was their
'constant Cry, that it was no difficult Matter- to discover who was their Freind
and who was not, since the one wanted their: Preservation and othér dmred
their Destruction.
.. That the Governor’s Care not only extended. to their.two Nations but to
all others who were Freinds to the English he wanted that they.should be .all
Freindg to each other. - What then would he say when he heard:that the French
and Chactaws were daily destroying the Chikesaws, and that they permitted it
to be done? He would think that they had thrown away his Talk, but indeed
the Chickesaws deserved to be supported for their own Sakes, as bcmg brave
Men, for though by the constant Wars of the French and their Freinds, the
Chactaws, they were now reduced to a Handfull of Men, yet they still stood
their Ground and he hoped with their Assistance they would be enabled to
stand it, but if thefe was nothing else their own Interest would make them
help the Chickesaws, for if the French should so far succeed as to destroy them
or drive them from their Land, what must be the Consequence?. Would not
they imediately either fall upon the Creeks or Cherokees, and whea they had
sufficintly weakened the one, they would .then attack the other, and at lenth
destroy both? It was therefore his Opinion that the Chickesaws should be
supported by.both on the Ground where they now lived, and this was the
. Opinion of his Nation, and they had sent many Parties to their Assistance and
+ . to make War on the Chactaws, and he wished the Creeks would do so also.
This Spccch was very much applauded by all presént and the Gun Mer-
chant, the greatest Head"Man in the Upper Creeks, made Answer. Thit he
wis glad to find the Cherokees of :the same Sentiments with them.. That the
Chactaws had begun with them already and had killed two of |10 ; their People,
that the French Caphain at the Albama Fort had sent to the Head Men and
pressed them to have the Matt@’smade up and would have perswaded them
to-make Peack with the Chactaws but that they had absolutely refused, and
that-a few Days before the- Arrival of the Cherokees, he hz.dw:none of their
principal Head Men (Duval’s-Landlord) go out to War against the Chactaws
. with thirty- Warriours from' his own Town, twmty from Ocehays, ten from
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the Abienchaws, ten Chikesaws, and - twenty Cherokees, in all mnty, but he
must not conceal from hiin that another of their Head Men:was very averse
from these Measures arid:had sent round the Nation to acquaint the Head Men
that unless they would desist from the Chactaw War he wOuld break out War
with the Cherokees,

The Cherokee Head Man replyed that he hoped it would never be in
the Power of one Head Man to create 2 War betwixt their two Nations, and
before he had left his Country they-had all agreed in order to preserve the
Peace and to make it lasting that if any of their People should be found-killed
in the Woods that-the Creeks should never be suspected or accused of it al-
though there might be ‘Tokens left as if done by Creeks; but they would always
attribute it to the French and Northward Indians, and when they saw'and cer-
tainly knew that any Mischeif was done by any of the Creeks, that they would
not upon that Account break out' War but would sénd and ‘complsin of* the
Injury and seel Satisfaction from the Nation or they would take it of the par-
ticular Person who committed the Offence or at-least of his Town, but - that
they never would involve the two Nations in a War upon such Accoitnts dnd
he ho e‘ged the Creeks would join with them in these Proposals, to ‘whick they

He then proceeded and cautioned them above all Things to beware of
giving any Offence to the English or suffering any of them to be hurted telling
them how concernéd the Cherokees were that two Years ago two white-Men
were killed not far from the Creek Nation as they were going-up to their Broth-
ers; thé Cherokees.. That their Nation. was greatly affronted t6 hear that the
Creeks blamed thém for it, that had they not been involved in' 4 War:at that
Time with their Nation they would” have found out the Murthérers'dand they
should not have gone unpumshed That both thie Creeks and Cherokees should
join in loveing the English and in esteeming them as theu' bcst and only Freinds
and Benefactors :

(Signed) GEORGE -JOHNSTON :

Mr. Johaston attending was called in and the foregoing Information from
him being read to him Paragraph by Pa.mgraph declared that every Word of
it was true and was sworn before me in Counci

October znd, 1754

' ,-JA"Mm' GreN

GOVERNOR GLEN TO THE GUN MERCHANT ‘

|x1] . : Dited 2nd October 1754.
My coop qumm AND LOVEING BroTuER, It is several Years:since. ] had
the Pleasure to sée you, and: the, earnest Desire that I have had, has made: me
think the Time longer than it really is'but no Lenth of Timé can ever wear
the Gun Merchant out of iy Mind.. I éan never forget that you are the: great-
est Man in the Uppeér Creek Nation, and what makes. you still: more beloved
by me is that youare the greatest: ‘Freiind ‘to the English, but durig that Period
of Time I have upon many Oecasions sent you: Letters and Talks' whenever -1
thought that my Advice or Assistance could be of Service to the Creek Nation,
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I have never failed to offer it and as on the one Hand .you must: see by my
Lettcrs that they are all written with a View to your- ‘Welfgre, that they are all
callculated-and center in your true Happiness, so on the o }er Hand I must do
you, the_ Justice to acknowledge that you have ever been/the first and readiest
to comply with,what bas been desired, and have at all Times proposed our
Desires to your People and perswaded them to agree to them. I shall still
continue to keep up the same freindly Communication with you by Letters but
yet 2 Meeting or persona.l Interview now and then is absolutely necessary, and
I know of no Time that it has been more necessary or that would be more proper
for it than the present.

You are now happily at Peace with the Cherokees and need fmr no Encmy
upon your Upper Towns nor upon the Path, but as you are at present at War
with the Chactaws perhaps it may be improper for many.to come down, one
more -Headman or two, and a few Warriours from the Upper Creeks will be
sufficient, and as I have invited Malatchi I would have you by all- means to call

at the: Cowetas and you may come together. Charles Town is-at present very
healthy and the Heats are gone, so that I hope you need fear no Sickness and
you- shall be well lodged and provided for. It has been usual for [the] Nation
to make a Present of Skins when they come to see the Governor, but upoh this
Ocaasion 1 desire you would not encumber yourselves with-any thing ‘more’ than
is absolutely necessary for your Journey. I assure you, you shall not be: lohg
detained in'Charles Town. If you all bring Horses T apptehend you will make
the greater Dispatch and you will be better able. 6 carry up the Presents that
I intend to give you or 1fy the Ammunition should prove to heavy it shall be
sent. I thank the Mad Bear of the Hillabys for the Present that I hear he in-
tended me and I am hopefull that by this Time you have had good Accounts of
|12| our good Freind, Duval’s Landlord. I long to see him, but I am sorry
for the Behaviour of the Wolf, but as I still hope that his Heart is English
I desire that you will persuade him to come with you and be pleased to let him
know that I should be glad to see him,

His Excellency the Govcrnor to the Gun Merchant

THE TUCKESAWS TO GOVERNOR GLEN
The 'I\xckesaws to His Excellency the Governor

Letter dated 1oth October, 1754

With Submission to our Brother the Governour and the Beloved Men of
Carolina, we return you Thanks for the Powder and Bulletts you sent us to
defend ourselyes against our Enemies. We received but two Bags of Powder
and four of Bulletts which is but a small Quantity for seven Towns, we haveing
the Enemy as bad against us as the People over the Hills, and the.Cheif of the
Ammunition that was sent up was carried over the Hills, and we beg that the
Governor and the beloved Men will be so good as to send us up seven Bags
of Powder and fourteen Bags of Bulletts, that is one Bag of Powder and two
of Bulletts for each Town to defend ourselves and the Whie People that live

amongst us for the Enemy is so hot upon us that we can hardly go from Town
to Town.
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- And if you please and think proper to send us Pistols, Cutlashes, and small
Hatchcts, Flints to deferid*ourselves we shall be very g}ad for we have News
of a-great many Eremies comeing -upon us, and we beg that this Letter may
not be forgot as our last was as we have sent our Token as you told us'to send

it when we wese in Want and we desire an Answer to our Letter a8 we remzm
in brotherly Freindship. :

TosATE OF TUCK.ASAGE
Tos.u'n , oF SLOCKE

KING AND HEADMEN OF THE CATAWBAS TO
GOVERNOR GLEN

[13] . Catawba Nation
By the Request of the ng and Head Men of the Catawba Nation

Loveme Broruer, I am sorry to let you know. that a few Days ago. there
was 16 of our Freinds, the White People, barbarously murdered and. cut all to
Peices, and 7 or 8 crried away alive by some Indians of what Nation I; cannot
tell. It was done within 40 Miles of this Town and we never heard of it for
ten Days after. We went there but the Enemy being gone so long it was
needless for us to follow them after so long a Start. Likewise we were scarce
of Powder and Lead, haveing no Trader nor Goods amongst us all this Summer
that we suffered much for the Want of one. That'a few Days ago the Governor
of. Virginia sent us a small Matter of Powder and Lead amongst us by Abraham
Smith'and when we came to’ divide it was. not above ten Shotts apeice.

We hive. waited a long Time for your Powder you promiséd-to send us.
The ‘Enemy is 2 skulking. about us now and then, and if a Bady: should: come,
we should be évery’Man destroyed for the Want of Powder, A the Waggons
aré néw a going down no doubt but they would brmg us up some, if you please
to send it by them.

We have been wanting our old Freind and Linguister to go down, but he
says he cannot for they will put him in Prison. Our People owe him'z great
Deal and have neglected to pay him these two Years past, but if we were forti-
fied with Powder and Lead ‘this Winter we would be able toi'set him on Foot
once more. Our old People dye very [fast], and it.is mighty sickly a.mong us
at present. We hope you will not forget us.

We are your humble Semn{s,

his
Kine °_ HioLzr .
Mark
ComrnrLt _ CHICKENS Capr. _-__ Jomn
Cm; Sugar Jxmmr Capr. - Harrnis
" Mark ' Mark

Headmen of the Catawbas Letter to His Excellency the Go‘vcmor
Dated 15th Oct., 1754
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.LUDOVIC GRANT TO .GOVERNOR GLEN

|x4] "Cherrockees, Tomatly Town, 32d July. 1754

MAY IT PLEASE YOUR ExcrLLENCY, It is not easey o conceive, much less

to express, | the inward Satisfaction of Mind I, in'my mean Cxtmmstanow recsive,
by being in the least countenanced: by your. Exoallency, neither is.there any
Thing that can, 'depress that Joy which rises in.my Heart on.that Account; more
than -my Inabxhty to effectually serve your, Exoel.lency and the. Col.;ntry in
_.w]nch I sojourn, and as my Wil is sincere and mdy on.all Oceasions I, pray
i, may make up and excuse wl;at Df:ﬁcxcpcm arg:not in my. Povger to h,elp ‘while
it.is my good Fortune and Happiness that.your Excellency does: remain,in, this
Province of South Carolina. 1 shall not fail as Oppertunity serves allways to
acquaint your.Excellency of what shall come to my. Knowledge in..relation to
the Behaviour of these Indians as far as it concerns the Peace of Carolina or. else
where belonging to the ng of Great Britain and likewise the Benifite and
Sew.nty of t% Trade which is.at present carried on among these. Cherroekees.
- 1Since I wrote my last-Letters by, Mr, Buttler there is-little.happened. in
this Nation worthy yourNotice, though I propose to acquaint your. Excellency
also with Things seemingly of mean Concern and leave the: Infe.rrenm to_be
drawen hy yourself, .

- Your Excellericy may remember in.my last Letters by Mr. Butt_lm-, I gavc
an Account of 2 Message sent to Old Hopp by the Governor of V'u:guua in-
viting the Emperour and Little Carpenter in thither, in order to receive some
Presents as the Letter specified, sent for them from the King of England.
Abraham Smith who was the Messenger went in Person over the Hills, and as
I can learn received one verbal Compliment for another to carry Home with
him. However Smith returned with expedition from Virginia to Kewohee the
second Time and proceeded no further, but from thence sent the second Letter
which he had brought by one of the Virginia Traders who was there at Kewohee
at that Time.to Old Hopp who said he was much obliged to the Governor of
Virginia for his Correspondence, but that as he was promised by his first Mes-
senger,. Ammunition and war Utensils, and ‘that .not being sent according.to
Promise, 1 nexther he, nor his People could make Powder, and Bullets, and other
Things they: very much wanted, and Paper alone, meaning the hm, would
not defend them from their Enemies either at Home or abroad and upon shght A
Excuses altogeather declined going.

However they ‘desited . the Virgmm Trader, one Paris by Name, to write
their Answer:to the second Letter and carry it to the Governor, and when the
Headmen were conveened in order to consult what Answer to send, he, the said
Paris, declined it till they should come to Starnekers, the. Dutchman’s House,
on the Virginia Path, and where Paris proposed they should convoy hin# and
there he said the Warnours who were his Gaurd might send an Answer. It
may;be supposed that Paris by deffering to write the Answer 11 upon the; Path, -
thought to'lay.an Obligation upon the Headmen to convoy him, but after all
this he could hardly perswade any. of them [15| to gaurd him homewards, only
twelve Fellows nine whereof were North Indians who have lived somc
Years Qver the Hills and almost naturalized.
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That Night or soon after they were come to Starnekers, there were thirty
of the Catabaws who had been at War to the Northward and being so_far
returned homewards, took up Camp in the adjacent Neighbourhood in order
to get some Provisions from the Inbablta.nts of the Placé and to procure which
sent a young Man of their Company ignorantly to a” House ‘near to Paris’s
Gaurd, who so soon as the Northward Fellows who were with the Cherroekees
heard of an Indian’and a Catiwbaw they rushed into the House where the
Catabsw was sitting and seizing and tieing him brought him off.” As I before
mentioned there were thirty of the Catabaws and had taken three Slaves and
killed”two on thé Spot; and there being but nine Northward with Paris, they
thot without Delay of making the best of their Way homewards and for Fear
of being pursued by the Catabaws which doubtless they were the fourth Day
came to-Setticoe which was an unaccountable Haste. The Northward Feitow
that first Jaid Hands on the Catabaw and for that Reason claimed him as his
sole Property lives in Setticoe, and there he first intended to carry the Slave,
which when the Little Carpenter, the Great Warriour, and several other Head-
men heard they went and with stern and angry Countenances, cut the Slave’s
String with a Knife, and stamped upon the rattling Callabash they had given
the Slave in his Hand to sing to, and told the nine Northward if they wanted
to go to their Country they might when they pleased, that they were not affraid
of ‘them or their Nation nor the French, but they should carry norie of their
Friends as Slaves, so these Warriours above mentioried brought the Catabaw
Hormie to them, and as in such Cases there Manner is, washed, painted, and
néw: cloathed him, and inténds to send him Home with 4 Gaurd to his own
People as soon 2$ he can walk, hiis Feet being much swollen by runnin

Tt is now a general War between this Nation and the Northward %ﬁdia.ns,
&spec:ally thése Belonging to the French, some of whoiii Were'ini ‘this Nafion
early this past Spring, and as they said were sent from their Nation for some
of these Overhills People with the Little Carpenter to go to their Nation in
Company with them to confirm a Peace with them and other Nations; the Little
Carpenter when they came first into Chottee was out at War, ‘for which Reason
most of them declined staying till he should come Home, and leaving an old
Fellow whom they called a Warriour to accompany the Littlé Carpenter when
he should come in from War, the rest returned-Homie." The’ ol Fel.lbw whom
the Northward had left finding but small Encouragment for*in ‘those- of the
Cherroekees who had been at War and had brouglit in French Pristnérs wanted
much to be gone; and getting his Clearance from Old Hopp: andhis ‘Coundil
made the best of his Way homewards, fearing I suppose worse ntight befal him.

" The Pesdce betwixt this Nation and the Creeks is unanimously’ confirmed
by mutual Presents:and ‘amicable and free Intercourse |i6] with mch other;
Companiés of the Créeks have been in this Nation this Summer and several
Creeks hiave beefi and ‘are géne to the Southward. * I am informed that over
the Hills are gone by Way of the Chickesaws-in order to assist them and-the
Crecks againgt thé’Chactaws with-whom the Creeks are now also at War. How-
ever it may be thought the French who pretend an Interest in both Nations will
- do what they can'to hinder that War to continue for unless it be a Piece of their
Policy to hinder the Chactaws from falling to the English which that Nation
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have several Times attempted, they, the French, will spare no Cost to bring
about a-Peace again. This Nation at present are-wholly averse to the French
Interest ‘which- has- intirely been brought to-pass.(under God) by your Excel-
lency’s mild; friendly-and ‘judicious Managment: of both Natioris; as for -these
they -have'no thoiights of other Muasters or- Benefactcrs than the. English-at
present and: 1 belive will contiriue so..

The Fort which your Excelléncy laid out and pérsonally settled at Kéwohee
(let unthinking People talk as their shallow Capacities prompts them) ‘has ‘had
already un excellent Effect upon this Nation as they are daily mare, and’ more
confirmed in their. Minds of the Benefite it will in Time be-to_them and their
Successors t.hough_ X mlly belive, by some white People who.had Reason to fear
the Consequence of it, in relation to themselves, that the Indians were by such
strenously petswaded against it; yet notwithstanding all by what I can learn
from thence, the Indiang, were not only willing the Soldiers should plant the

Kour Excellency purqhased but freely offered: them other Plantations if
tbey should want them. However I belive your Excellency is better informed
of Affairs from the Fort than I am capable off, living at such a Distance from it.

As for my Pm't every Oppertunity | that smtzbly oﬁers 1 fail not to tell and
endeavour to perswade these People that the very Name of 4 Cherroekee is
abo:n;nablc to the French, and that they. togeather with their Indians wanit to
patch up a pretended: Pa.ce with, therh that they may. have the safer and surer
Oppertunity to deéstroy and in Time to cut them off from being a People which
I am perswaded the most I have talked with belive, .

This Summer the Chekesaw Indians sent in Messengers over the Hills
informing these People that the French and Chactaws had lately attacked them
in their Towns, and that they beat them off with smal Loss, but they were still
affraid the French would some Time or other send & Force ngainst them which
they might not be able to overcome for which Reason they intended this Fall
to break up their Nation, that four Towns of them would come in over the Hills
and the other three would settle in the Upper Creeks, and that the Over Hills

"People should meet them at the Chekesaws’ Landing "with Canoes at the Time
-appointed to transport their Women, and:Children. How true this may |17]
prove I know riot but belive that your Excellency may before thig [be] informed
of that Affair from the Southward and Mr. Elliot ‘who lives in Chottee -can
acquaint your’ Excellency relating to that Design, what he has hwd and also
what those People have resolved.

Thé 3rd of July came Meéssengers from Great Torequa to this Va.l_ley
desireing their .immediate Assistance to hunt after and driye from about their
Town the Enemy who were numerous and they were affraid would attack them,
that the Enémy had kﬂled Uslunecus’ Nephew as he was riding from Terequa
to Tannassle, but that they h4d not got his Scalp. The Horsé he road carrying
him off sorae Distance from where he was shet before he ‘fell to the Grouad.

It is certain that all the Over Hills Towns aré much infested ‘with the
Enemy who ‘every Year kill some of their best Men which ‘much weakens and
discourages  them. "Should it at any Time be in the' Power of the French to
drive the Over Hills ‘People from thence it would certainly prove of:fatal
Consequence first to this Nation and afterwards to the Out Settlerments & Caro-
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lina, for it is not to be doubted when the Over Hills Towns wete broke up and

gone that the French with those Indians would soon'settle these famous back

Rivers to which at-present these Indians Over the Hillsare the only' Hindrance

and :afterwards would in Time drive this Nation to the. Settlements-or force

" thei to comply which at Present they seem fnost averse to. However it is to be
hoped that the Country will spare no Pains or Expence to enable them to stand
th]:u- G;ound by:seriding: thern Ammbnition &c. the Want of which' they com-
pisin of.

~Frequent Communication with these Indians both by Word and Wirit is a
great hwtmng to therd ‘and they look upon your- Exeell(mcy’s Familiarity,
Lenity, and good Usage they always have received, very much, and are always
tz.llm:g of iit, -

Agdini the 4th Day of the said Month, July, iri the Morning, came: other
Masengers from Chotte, twa for this Town Tomatly to- the Wamour, and
two to 'the Mankiller of Iwasee. These as they passed my House told me they
'had a Letter written by the white Mén by Order of the Wartiours dfmnng
this Valey People to :.Z)mr over the Hills with all Expedition to their Assist-
anice against a great Body of Enemy who as they were informed were approach-
ing their Towns apecmlly Chottee. Iwassee, Canoste, and Little Telequa
should go to Great Terequa, the longSavanna People, Noewee, Tomatly,
Cheawee, Nantanaly to Chote. That the Enemy had killed a beloved Woman
in a"Canoe by the Tobn. by which they being alarmed pursued them, and"took
one of them and brmgmg him to the Town burnt him. "He was by his Con-
fession 3n 'Over the' Lake Indian, and by his Whiteness theéy supposed him to
be'a whiteran’s'Son. Before he wis bumt he,told those’People by a Notth-
ward Fellow, the -Interpreter, who' haslived somie Years in this' Nation that
there was an Army of ‘white and red down the River ke mentioned and which
he' came’ from. That they were inforting themselves {r8| and afterwards
dwgncd to come against Chotte and cutt it off because that Town only ‘was
always killing their Indians and taking their white Men who were Traders
which' Report' though I belive groundless as I told them, as to the De31gn to
att off any Town has occasioned theu' great Surprize and cnuscd the.m to send
for Help to this Valy.

I told these Indians that it has always been the French and thear Indlans’
Custom in the Spring, for mor¢ or less of a “Towny to join togmthc,r a,nq, o into
the Woods, and npon-some convenjent, River to settle and mfort themselves for
the Safcty of what Women gnd Chﬂdren t,bcy should have w‘xth them, and from
thence to sen&oE ‘what Compam&s they should think proper to, mql@t the
frontiers Towns of this Nation, but that it was™very improbable and. hardly

_possible they .ever. would ‘come in a' Body aga.mst their ‘Towns, for an Army
suffiient for such an Enterprize would not live.in the Woods: for want of Pro-
vision; especially when they .should approach- near ary Town where there were
neither; Bear, Deer sior Bufflow. to be found, and that it-was.impossible fot 2
Bady-of Men to comé near their out:side Towns undiscovered some, or other

being alymys in the Day Time a. scouttmg, and at th13 “Time . they: had- War
enough at:Home. © - .
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- The Messengers from the Over Hills' Towns brolight also a Letter sealed
to this 'Warriour of Tomatly desiring him with all Speed:possible to send it to
the Fort at Kewoheg, and that from thence it should in-all Haste be forwarded,
to your Excellency, and that no white Man should read‘or see it till it came
to Kewohee which when the Warriout told me I said it ‘was sobme what strange
that his' Uncle, Old Hopp, should send a Letter to him.in’whom they.all'so
much confided, and not in the least to.acquaint him:with the:Conténts; and
desired to see the Superscription thereof which when he brought it, found it
was directed to.the Commander of-the Fort, and ‘not.to your Excellency -and
nothing in it, for I broke it open but 2 Heap of confised, incoherent Jargon
which I. sdpposc- your Excellency has-received before this. -

- Old Hopp attributes in it the Occassion of the War to yout Excellency in
putting and detaining in Prison those Savanahs that on that Account the Savan-
nah Nation had given Belts of Wampam to the Northward Towns in general
to come-to War against these Cherroekees because they, when in” Charles- Town,
did not procure the Freedom of the Savannahs from your: Excellency and'send
them Home. That he would not write for Ammunition again, because he-had
been disappointed before (which of itself is 2- modest Pemand- and cun.mng
Reproof).. ‘However each Trader has promissed them if they shall stand in
Need of it one Bdg of Powder and two of Bullets to defend them untill they
hear from your Excellency, which they very much long for and especially- the
Warriour of Tomatly -who expects ‘with - Impatience ‘some Acknowlcdgment
that your Excelléncy received his Talk.
~ The Letter was signed with Old Hopp’s Mark, and what I havc wrote
was the chief Contents thereof, and thought proper to acquaint your Exce[lency
least it should miscarry and not come to hand.

[19| Two young Men of Tannasse who were lately out & hunting were
surpnzed in their Canoe by 3 Northward Enemy who fired upon them and
missing them the two Cherroekees jumped out of the Canoe into the Swamp
with only their Guns and shot Pouches which I suppose lay at Hand. The
Enemy not daririg to-venture into the Swarnp seized the Canoe and what Body
of Skins &c. that was in her -and turning her adrift took the Land. Some Days
after a Party of Gréat Terequa Indians who were out at ‘War coming across
the Tract of the three Enemy, and finding 2 Mush Basket they had taken out
of the Cdnoe, and knomng it to be of Cherrockee make, supposed that they
had killed some Woman in her House and pursuing the Tract came up with
them, lalled one, took ancther, and the third run of and got clear. The Fellow
they ‘catched they brought Home to Great Tcrequa and burnt him there. This
happened about the 12th July.

Twelve of the Northward Enemy lately came upon Iwasee River near
the Town and in a Plantation klled a2 Cherroekee Man and carryed off a
Notchee Woman, and being hotly persued the Enemy killed the Woman about
20 or 30 Miles ftom- Iwassee, -and left a considerable Booty of Beads and
Blankets. When the Pursuers found the Woman dead proceeded no further
but returned ‘with what they had got.

Some time ago five or six Mén of Canoste went over to Great Terequa to

“assist them to hunt the Enemy about the Town, and being:-one Day out in
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search of them in the Afternoon whén:they had given over Hopes of ﬁndmg
or seeing any were returning Home whea suddénly they were fired upon: from
a Thicket by the path Side; one was killed on the Spot, one taken; and the rest
made their Escape-to-tell the News. He whom they had taken Prisoner the
fourth sought after. when-ithey were all asleep -got off from the Enemy by

cutting the Slave String with which e was tied, with 2 shm-p, white thtown,
but much hurt with running and:

-This Summer one of the Virginia Traders, Pans by Na.me, ‘whom I have
before mentioned with 2 young Man Paris, his quhng, 2 Negroe Man, and -
John Hatton’s Sister, ha.lg breed, had almost been killed in the Great Tm'equa
Path from Canoste. - The said Paris with his Company had come from Stecoe
on. Tewtewah River and passing my House went to Docharty’s where he bought
two Cows and Calves, The Day. after took his Journey: for Great Terequa
‘which he was to pass in his Way to Toquo where he resided with a remarkable
Indian and- a Warriour of Tannassee who had somé Days beforé come over
the Hills to Docharty’s in order to pay a Debt he owed him. . When Paris was
come within four or five Miles of the Terequa for Fear least his Cattle would
tire encamped, the Indian who was a little Way behind coming: up, said he
+ would proceed to the Town it being but a little Way |20 off, and notwithstand-

ing Paris and the Woman entreated him earnestly to stay and told him the Path
was dangerous, however the Indian would not and not two Miles from where

Paris stayed: had his Horse shot under him, and was himself cirried -off where
no News has been heard of him smce, and I belive - [cvcr] will;"and: .Cattle
though they. have been the: Death of some Virginia Me.n in. Tlmcs past at tha.t
Time saved the Life of one with his Company.

There have been but few killéd in any of the Mldd.le Settlements and
tbeLowerTowns that I can hear of.

"1 have made bold: with Submission to give your Exccllmcy thxs tedious
Account of these People in relation to their Enemies and if nothing-else can
be enferred from it,1 am sure one Thing may, to wit that they stand much .
in need of what Assistance and daily Encouragment South-Carolina can give
them to continue their Allegiance and Friendship firm as.it certainly is at present
throughout the Nation for the Indians are not powerful Enimies, yet. was it so
to happen they. would be found very troublesome ones.

-+ 1 shall:not: trouble: your: Excellency with: any. Accountot. the ‘Lrade only
that it is carryed -on in strict: Opposmon to the late- Ordinahice, more-of léss, by
all, for the less-Traders'must of necessity follow the Way: of the-greatér or. they
have no Business here. I humbly beg- Pa.rdon for this Trouble and am with
all due Submission and Respect, -

Your Exoellency’s most’ humble, most obedxent and most obliged Servant,

: LUD GRANT

JAMES FRANCIS TO GOVERNOR GLEN

. Octoba- 7th, 1754
MAv 1T PLEASE YOUR EXCELLENCY, Su' I should have WEote sooner con-
cerning - this. cruel, Murder- perpetrated (as 1 suppose) by.a Camp of . French -
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Indians, but heard the Day I was going to set off that Mr. Wicose of. this chgh~
bourhood was already set off to Town to acquaint your Excellency of the same;,

viz.:on.Friday. the 27th last past.. However Sir, I' beg: Leave to ‘relate: the
particulars in few Words which is as follows. -

On a Creek éalled Buffalo Creek stipposed to be in North Cax:ohna,by
others supposed to be in the South Province, at the House of one -Gut-
tery, a socisble, hospitable Man, and of good Resolution (at whose Housé 1
have been) at this House Sir, a tra.vellmg Family or two had stoped from the
Northward and a neighbouring Family was at this unfortunate Time at the
said House waiting the Return of a young. Couple that were gone:40 or more
Miles. to a-Justice to be married. , In the interim (somé :say 60, some more)
Indians came upon these unhappy People old and young.accounting 21, sixteen
of whom were found barbarously murdered in the Circumferrence of 2 or 300

, the other five not found wether ca.rryed off or killed at a Distance and
not fo’{md is not certain. The People missing are a Woman and 3 Children,
the sth I could not get a true Account off. -

This'Sir is the exactest Account I can get |21| of this unhippy. Affair in
relation to the Persons killed. As for the other Part, Hogs and Fowles that
they could find were killed and piled upon the Bodies of the murdered. Several
Cattle were also found dead adjacent and at least 20 head of Horses, some very
valuable belonging to the Travellers drove off, but one Man as I coulcl under-
stand was killed with a Bullet, the rest all ln]led with Arrows and Hatchets,
and some left of both sorts sticking in the Bodies of the Dead when found.

It also appeared by their Camps in the Corn Field that they remained
efter the said Murder some Time, and when they did %o oft blazed Trees in
the Way they went, However it seems the white People that first discovered
the Affair which was the new married Couple &c. had not a Force sufficient to
follow the Indians, but were themselves in such a Panick that they could not
wait to bury the Dead [but] by flinging them into a Well on the said Planta- -
tion, viz. 16 Persons old and young. This Affair, Sir, has caused a great Dread
in these Parts. However as it falls out that our Muster Day happened on course
at this Juncture, I took the Oppertunity as well to pacify and encourage them,
at the same Time to warn them to keep a wary Dilligence to be ready to assist
eich one his Neighbour at an Hour’s Warning and to be always ready at a*
sudden Call. This was the chief I could do at this Time,

Sl.l‘, but humbly beg Leave to acquaint your Excellency that there is lately
come into this Settlement 6. or 7 Familés, some of which are in low Circum-
stances and appeared at thé Musterd Field without Arms, which when I talked
to them about, their Answer was that with purchasing their Lands, Provisions
&c., they réally could not: purchase Arms as they were very dear and scaree
to'be got. If therefore, Sir, it is not a Trespass to request that we may havé 1o,
15; or 20 more or less as your Excellency shall see good it surely will be doing
us a great Good, a3 these People will not only be useless but troiiblesoiie in
case an’ Alarm should rise, and they without Arms. Your Excellency is not
unacquainted with the Constitution of this Settlement, and if we dare with due
Submission iriterceed for some Ammunition that the poorer of the People may
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be aupplyed it will' really be an Encouragement according- to my  humble
Opinion far beyond the Expence. At the Requwt of the Compa.ny, Sir, is. this
Letter. That your Excellency may long re:gn and hve ha.ppy in Ca.rohna. is
the sincere hearty Prayers of Sir, -

Your: Excellency’s most dutyfull and obedu:nt humble Servant to com-
mand, ,
JAS ancxs

P. S. The aforementioned Buffulo Creek is about § Miles from where the
Path croses Broad River which leads from the’ Cherroekees to [the] Catabaw
Nation, and the said Guttery’s Plantation about 20 from thé' said Ford which
Ford is about 100 Miles from this Settlement of Saludy. This Sir is the truest
Computation that I'can make of this Matter from ‘Sir, ‘

Your Excellency’s ever obedient, humble Servant,

I F.

GOVERNOR GLEN TO THE CHEROKEE HEAD MEN
OF THE OUT TOWNS -

|22| Copy of a Letter from the Governor of South Carolinz to his good

Friends and Brothers, the Headmen of the Out Towns of Tuomseegm Kehoway
and Steecoy &c. &c.:

November 14.th 1754

. Goop, FriENDs anp Brotrers, I have. received your Letter of Thanks for
the two Baggs of l’owdm‘, and four Baggs of Bullew that 1 lately sent you by
Mr. Beamer; but I was surpnzed to find.in that Letter a Request for:more.
However as 1 am always willing to serve you, I laid your Letter before the
beloved Men and represented to them that your Out Towns lay expased to
the Enemy, and that Chuchiche and the Tacites and other of the Headmen had
always behaved like dutyfull Children of the great King George and loved the
white People of Carolina. Upon these Considerations the beloved Men advised

me to make you,a Present of some morc, and I shall send it by some of the
Traders the first Oppertunity.

I think. of sending for some- of . your Hmdmen and Wa.mours to come
down to sec me that we.may talk togeathér: of some Thmgs relating to. the
Wellfare of the CherroekeerNatlon which I have much at Heart, -If. I send
I shall be sure to let you know it, that some of your Headmen may come, thh
the Headmen from Over the Hills; *tis a long while since 1. had the Pl
of shaling Hands with any of the Head Men . of the Qut: Towns, yet 1 o en
think of them. I consider them as Brothe:s, and as 1 know that the Sxtuatxon
of their Towns layes. them. open to the Attack of the French. and- Northem
Indjans, I sent them g Supply of Ammunition, and. they may depend upon
three Baggs of Powder and six Baggs of Bullets more, by the first Oppertunity
as I have promised in the begining of this letter. .

I am, Friends and Brothers, your loving Brother,
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LACHLAN McGILLIVRAY TO GOVERNOR ‘GLEN

Augusta ‘October 17 54

Sir, I received your Excel.lency’s Commands by Geo. Johnston. , I, shall
at all Times gladly embrace any Oppertumty to serve' my Country when in my
Power, but our latest Accounts from the Lower Creeks, Malatchi has been
dangerously ill 'so that his Life has been dispaired 'of. “The sime Accounts
itiforms us that Heddmen of ‘thé¢ Upper and Lower ‘Crecks were mvited to
Mobile there to réceive Présents from the Governior of Orléans.~ Two Chicke-
saw Fellows arrivéd: here yesterday from the Cussetaws in ‘the Lower ‘Creeks
who say that the French at the Albara Fort are useing theiitinost' Endeavours
to ‘takea Breach between the Uppéer Creeks and Cherroekees, whith ‘is very
d:sagre&ble to the Lower Creeks. Nothing further at Present offers- from

Your Excellency’s most devotcd and obedient, humble Servant,

LAGHLAN MchLLrvnAY )

P S I should be gla.de to know how the Indians are to be mentained here
as undoubtedly ‘they will want to rest themselves 4 few Days after their long
Journey, but when come I shall ma.ke there Stay herc as short as posmble

LACHLAN McGILLIVRAY TO GOVERNOR GLEN

|23[ [Mmr] 1T PLEASE YOUR Excnu_mvcv, Since my‘last; Accounts from
the Upper Creeks say that the French have been:more than common bussy this
last Summer, endeavouring to foment Disturbances and gain over that Nation
to their Interest, and have actually prevailed upon several Head Men to go
down to Mobile in order to receive large Presents, and without the least Doubt
(if possible) to put them upon some Schemes prejudicial to the English In-
terest, but it is not in the least to be doubted but that the same unwearied Care
and Watchfullness so peculiar to your Excellency over Indian Affairs, and
which has rendered the French’s diabolical Schemes abortive for Years by past
will also be effectual at this critical Juncture by sending so seasonably for the
Heads of that Nation, but I am afraid some of the Head Men most wanted
will not come down this Season because severals of them were gone out for
their Winter’s Hunt before your Letters could possibly be conveyed to their
Nation.

A Trader from' the Cherockees the-other Day says that a considerable
Body of that-Nation from Tannasscc, Chottee and other Towns set out for the
Chickesaw. Nation about the latter End. of last Month inorder to escerte the
Remains of that brave People into the Cherroekee Nation. . Thus, a brave
People who fought manfully and strugled hard for many Years for their native
Country are- a:imt obliged to quit it and leave it to be possessed by -their im-
placable Enemies, the Frénch and their Indians.. The same Man says it was
confidently reported there that it was a-French Nation of .Indians called Nota-

wees in conjunction with some Savannahs that lately destroyed some of- the
Inhabitants on- ‘Broad River. '
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1 hope your Excellericy will excuse this long Epistle," neither would I
presume to trouble you with this and many others on the same Head, only that
I know how much you have Indian Affairs at heart.

I am your Excellency’s most devoted and obedient, humble Servant

LACHLAN Mchmev

I this Moment received a private Letter dated at the Abcccootchces, Octo-
ber 19th, 1754 from Mr. Clark, a Person of good Authority, an Extract of
which 1 thought proper to.communicate to your Exoellency as follows: :

Sir, I arrived at the Ockehoys the 15th Instant and notwithstanding. what
Dlspa.tch I'made the Gun Merchant and most of his People were gone 2 hunt-
ing a Fortnight before my Arrival. It was with a great Deal of Perswasion
 that 1 could prevail with the few Headmeén who were. at- Home to send after
him to the Woods to. let him know of His Exoellency’s Invitation, and was
obliged to give two Blankets to a Fellow for ‘carrying the Message to him.
What Disturbance has been in this Nation has been intirely owing to otr natural
and inveterate Enemies, the French, and I am sure that these Fellows (the
Creeks) who are now at Mobile will be greatly encouraged to raise and foment
Jealousies between us and the Creeks which I hope and make no doubt our
Governors in their great Wisdom will prevent.

|24| By our latest Accounts from the Cherrockee Nation they expect
Assistance from our Government to enable them to stand their Ground, other-

wise will be obliged to move. A Party of them and some Savannalis are gone

some Time ago upon some of the French Settlements on tha Mississipi to get
Slaves.. I wish them Success. '

1 look upon this"Accouint in regatd to the Chickesaws to be more authentick
than that-from the Cherroekees.” I hope your Excellency will pardon this also
as theré'is no other Motive than that of the publick Good iriduces me to give
you this Trouble: I am as before

Your Excellency’s most devoted, humble Servant o

' Lacu. McGiLiveay

GOVERNOR GLEN TO OLD HOP

Copy of His Exoellency’s Letter to Old Hope, Headman of the Che.r-
rockee Natlon
. Charles Town,: December- xzth 1754.

MY Goon me axp Lovine BroTuer, I received your Letter thanking
me for the Ammunition that I sent you to defend your Towns ‘against’ your
‘Enemies and desireiig more. I'sent you an Answer-to it; but in- case. that
Letter has not been' safely carried or truly cnt&rprcted I now send another by
a faithfull- Messenger who is ‘acquainted with most of the Headmen, and who
can speak your Language well. “’Tis Mr. Richard -Smith.. ‘The Intent-and
Meaning of this Letter is to repeat-and renew-the Assurrances that I ‘have
frequently given“you of the Favour and “Friendship of. this Government,
though I am perswaded when you reflect on the Care and Kindness of Carohna_'
to you, you cannot have the least Doubt of the Continuance of it. -We look
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on you as one People with ourselves, the Cherroekee Nation and Carolina have
been so long in Treaty with one another. You'on your Parts keep the Path
clear and clean, and we take care to keep it streight and smooth on ours. The
French have used their utmost Endeavours to make Peace between the Chactaws
and Creeks and to incite the Creeks to brake out War with you that both the
Creeks and Chactaws might come against you on one Hand while they and
other Indians to the Northward fall upon you on the other that so putting you
betwixt two Fires they might intirely destroy and consume you, but 1 have

hitherto prevented all their Plots and 1 doubt not but I shall be able to defeat
all their Designs.

I have sent for many of the Head Men of the Creeks, and I expect them
here about the begining or at the furthest the Middle of February. It would
give me great Pleasure if some of your Headmen and Warriours could be here
about the same Time, particularly Chucannuta, Oustenaike, Oconnostate, Amas-
cosita of Telliquo, Scaleloske of Chatuge, the Smal Pox Conjurer of Setticoe,
The Bread Slave Catcher, Tacite Hyowassy, and his son Amaetae, the Warriour
of Tomatly, the Prince of lerohee, The King of Nagnossi, Chuchitchi of Tau-
angia and Round O from the Qut Towns, Wahatchi of Keewohee, Carane, the
Raven of Toxaway, Little Tethtoy and Cannavaughte of Keewohee with any
other of the Over Hills |2 slr Headmen that Old Hop pleases to send or any
other from that Valley that Tacite thinks fit should come, and as all these are
Head-men no doubt they will bring some other Warriours with them, for I wish
to see many of my Friends, and I doubt not but they will all come with true
Hearts and with full Powers to consult and transact what may be for the Safety,
Peace and Happiness of the Cherroekee Nation and what will not only tend to
their present Prosperity but what may make them a great and flourishing
People when the present Generation is all dead and gone.

I have already told you that I have sent for many of the Headmen of the

. Upper and Lower Creeks and that I expected them about the Middle of Feb-
ruary. I shall also send for the Head-men of the Catabaws. You are all at
present Friends and Brothers and I shall always (as I have hitherto done)
study to keep you so but one great and important Point to be considered is how
to keep your Enemies, the French Northern Indians, the Tawaws and others
from hurting you, who last Year came against your Overhills Towns in Num-
bers, but may be expected as you inform me next Summer in greater Numbers .
assisted with Frenchmen. I think one Way of preventing them coming against
you will be to go against them, and we shall supply you with Arms and Am-
munition, and if I can prevail with both the Creeks and Catabaws to join with
you heartily and to go chearfully with you, you will soon give your Enemies
to the Northward work enough at Home. One great Difficulty will be to
defend your old People, your Women and Children, while you may be gone
against your Enemies, but I doubt not when we meet and when your Head-men
and Warriours come down we shall think of [something] that may make your
Towns safe, and give Security to all your old People, your Women and Chil-
dren, but there is no Time to be lost. Writing Letters and sending Talks and
Messages backward and forwards will not do the Bussiness, and therefore
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I hope they will not make it later than the Middle of February I mean that
they should be in Charles Town by that Time.

I am the sincere Friend of the Cherroekee Natlon, and of you, Old Hop
of Chotte, the Head of it.

James Gren

GOVERNOR GLEN TO TACITE OF HYOWASSIE, COLANE OF
EURPHORSEE, KING OF THE VALLEY

Charles Town; 12th December, 1754

Mv Goop Frienps anp Loving BrotuEers, TaciTe oF Hyowassie, CoLank
. or EurpHorsER, Kine oF THE VALLEY, I hope this Letter will find you and
your Spouse, your son Amahetai and George all well and in good Health, You
was o kind as to.come and see me [at] Keewohee with your old friend Cor-
nelius, and I endeavoured to make you as wellcome as I could. _You and I have
often met in Charles Town, we have met in the Woods, we have met in your
Nation and though both you and I grow. older than when we first knew one
another, yet I hope we shall meet again and I wish to see you and your Son
about the Middle of February in Charles Town with any other of the Headmen
of the Valley or Warriours that you please.

~ I have written to Old |26| Hop for some of the Head-men from Over
the Hills, and I expect Chuchitchi and Round O from the Tuccaseagia Parts,
and some from the Middle Settlements, and also from the Lower Towns that
we may have a great Talk togeather.

I have also sent for some of the Headmen both of the Upper and -Lower
Creeks and they will be here about that Time. One Part of my Design is to
confirm and settle the Peace betwixt your two Nations for the French. have
‘been lately endeavouring to make a Breach and to kindle the Flame that I
happily extinguished, but I have defeated their Designs. But another great
End of my desiring a Meeting with the Headmen of the Cherroekees is to
consult what Steps are to be taken to prevent the French, their Indians the
Tawasaws, and other Northern Indians E‘om hurting your Nation. They want
to bring both the Chactaws and Creeks against you on one Side and they them-
selves and their northern Friends attack you on the other Slde and so by puttmg
you betwixt two Fires they may intirely destroy and consuine you. " It is to
protect your Nation from this that I want to consult with you and to enablc
you not only to stand your Ground and defend your "Towns, buf to drive your
Enemies before you and 1 hope I shall unite togeather both Cherroelées,
Creeks and Catawbaws like one Man against the commion Enemy.  You shall
not want for Arms and Ammunition and we must consult how to secure your
old Men, your Wives and Children not only against any Enemy, that may
come . aga.mst your Towns, but whsle your Warriours are. gone agamst thc
Enemy, -

You are sens:ble that thére are great Points and Matters of the utmost
Importince and therefore though you are old and the Weather will then be
cold yet I doubt not but you will corhe. I want you because you are wise and
good and love your People. This is a great and solem Meeting. After this
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your Son Amehetae may supply your Place, but at prcsent I want you both and
I will take no Refusal.

I am your good Friend and Brother,
JAMES GLEN

GOVERNOR GLEN TO CHUCTHITCHE AND ROUND (o)

Charl& Town, 12th December, 1754

My Goop Frienps anp BroruERs, CHUCTHITCHE AND Rounp O, It has
given me great Concern to find that the French and their Friends, the Northern
Indians, have come in such Numbers against your Towns and have killed so
many, both of you and the Overhills People, and there is Reason to think that
they may come in greater Numbers this Summer, for which Reason I have sent
for some of the Headmen of your Nation to be here in Charles Town the
Middle of February next. I hope you will both of you come down then with
any other Headmen and Warriours of the Out Towns. that you may think
proper to consult and advise with me of the most proper Ways to defend your
Nation against the Attempts of your Enemies. You shall not want for Arms
and Ammunition, and I hope both the Creeks and Catabaws will join with you
heartily to drive the Enemy before you. . I hope you will not fail to come at
the Time appointed.

I am good Friends and Brothers your Firm Friend,

James GLeN

GOVERNOR GLEN TO THE CATABAW HEADMEN

|277| Copy of & Letter from His Exoellency the Governor to the Headmen

of the Catabaw Nation
Charles Town, 18th December, 1754

Goop Frienns anp Lovine BrorEers, You cannot doubt of the great
Pleasure I received when the Peace was betwixt you and the Five Nations.
You well know of the great Pains that I took to bring it about. You have
indeed complained for a Year two past that the Five Nations did not faithfully
observe it, but ‘ame into your Country under [Colour] and Pretext of the
Peace, and calling themselves your Brothers, watched Oppertunities of destroy-
ing such as were not upon their Gaurd against them, and in some of your
Letters you have not scrupled to say that they joined publickly with your
Enimies and came openly to War against you. I was in hopes that you might
have been mistaken, and that some of the French Indians who came against
you might have given out that they were of the Five Nations purposely .to
create a Breach betwcen you and thém. But I cannot conceal from you- that all
your Apprehensions seems to have been well founded, for the Honorable
William Bull Junr., Esq., one of the beloved Men who as Commissioner from
the Province carryed you with him to New York and went along with you to
Albany where the Treaty was concluded, has lately had an Account sent him
from thence from Arrance Stevens, Interpretcr for the Province of New-York
to the Five Nations whom no doubt you remember, that a Party of the Five
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Nations consisting of near fifty Warriours were set off from thence to come -
to War against you and gave out that they would destroy and scalp you. Upon
this News the Governor and Coundil of this' Province considering the long
Friendship that hath subsisted betwixt your Nation and us thought proper to
send you a considerable Supply of Ammunition, consisting of 300 wt. of Powder
and 600 wt. of Bullets, besides 500 Gun Flints which you will receive in a few
Days as a Present from this Government. Mr. Nightingale carrys it in his
Waggon and will deliver it to you. I desire that you may cause it to be weighed
in his and your Presence, but in regard it might be necessary for you to have
the earliest Intelligence of the Designs of )2?} Enemies, 1 prcva.ilgd with him
to go express that you may without Loss of Time call in your Hunters to take
care of their Families and to prevent the Destruction of your Women and
Children, for I hear that at present and for some Time past few or.none of
your Warriours have been left at Home, a Circumstance that may some Time
or other prove very fatal to your Nation especially now when the Five Nations
hath broke out War with you who are much better acquainted with your Towns
than the French Indians were and by their Nearness to you will have better -
Intelligence of evry Motion you make, I sincerly wish the Peace, Preservation
and Prosperity of the Catabaw Nation.

- 1am good Friends and loving Brothers, your good Friend and Brother

James Grex
RICHARD SMITH TO GOVERNOR GLEN

[28] o ' ‘Suludy Old Town, December 24th, 1754

May 1t PLRAsE YOUR ExcerLeEncy, The Bearer is the Fellow that the
White People took and and confined somewhere about Peedee.and was brought
to Charles Town and your Excellency returned, and he desired I would write
to your Excellency by him that he is destitute of 2 Gun and baggs your Excel-
lency may give him one. I yesterday met 2-:Man of John Hallons that affirmed
the Creck Indians had broke out War against the Cherokees. But meeting
Mr. Beamer here, Mr. Beamer informs me that it is false and that the Chero-
kees and Creeks is hunting together in Peace, and 1 thought it my Duty to
acquaint your Excellency the Truth for that Fellow of Hallons will I suppose
tell there is War which 1 imagined would give your Excellency some Un-

.Your Excellency may depend I shall take care to bring down the Indians
by the Time your Excellency desired, and if your Excellency have any further -
Orders be pleased to write me Word by the Bearer. And your Excellency may
depend I shall do what lyes in my Power to serve, - _

And am your Excellency’s most obedient and most humble Servant,

- ’ .. Ricap, Smita

' MONECATONTHA TO THE CATAWBAS
" A Speach made by Moriecatontha to the Catawbaws in behalf of the War-
riors of the Six Nations, Dalaways and Shainnas Resideing on the Ohio and
delivered to Capt. Jo. Makay :




1754 ~ 1757 - 29

Bretheren we have heard of the Peace made by your Kings and ours of the
Six Natlons, but as a Warr between us is carried on by the Warriors so the Peace
should be confirmed by Warriors. And as we did not meet. by the Appointmerit
of our Brother the Governor of Virginia, I now send yofi these four Strings of
Wampum to invite you to meet us at Winchester next Spring sometime about
March where we will make a lasting Peace that shall hold while the Sun shines.
That this Speach may have a good Impression on the Minds of our Bretheren,
we send you these four Strings White Wampum.

Bretheren we desire much to see and meet with you and we hope your
Kings will come with you, and all our Brethren that is in Alliance with you.

We shall be glad how many you bring with you. To confirm the Truth. of
what I have said, I send you this String.
Wampum.

KING MALACHEY TO GOVERNOR GLEN
ﬁ9| King Malachey’s Letter to His Brother the Governor of South
a .

/ November 15th, 1754

I received your good Talk you sent me, and would come down to see you,
but am very ill that I despaired of Life and am still in a very bad State of
Health that I cannot come down, nor have I any Thing left me but my Body,
having been obliged to give all I had to the Doctors, and as you was so good
as to order me to bring Horses for to carry the Presents with I-would have come
if I had been able. But hope I shall be better by the Spring, and if you would
send them to Augusta, it would be a much shorter Way for me to fetch them
or if you think fit for me to come to you to Charles Town I hope you will send
me Word between this and then, and as for the Peace with the Cherroekees
I hope it will be a lasting one. The Upper Towns and all my People in general

have no Thought of a War with the Cherroekees at present for [they] hunt
lovingly togethcr

* JOHN PETTYEROW TO GOVERNOR GLEN
John Pettyerow’s Letter to His Excellency
Dated Breed Camp, the 1st December, 1754

HoNourep Sir, As I think my Duty to let your Excellency know the State
of Affairs in this Nation where I arrived the 20th of November in' Company
with Mr. Clark and Mr. Spencer where we found all well and peaceable at that
present, but was acquainted by those that staid in the Nation that there had
been a great Demur amongst the Indians about the white People’s incroaching
upon their Lands which had like to have proved of bad Consequence to us. The
French finding that Oppertunity endeavoured as much as possible to infuse
worse Talks in their Heads than they really had got by telling them that we
was now providing a great Army below to cutt them all off. And that we was
then a building a Garrison at the Oakmullgy River in order to keep Possession
of their Lands as far as there. This I am credibly informed has been their
chief Instigation of any Mischief being likely to have been done.
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Before we got into the Nation the Gunn Merchant had set out a huntmg
ten Days, but immediately hired a Fellow to follow him to let him know your
Excellency wanted him, but have not seen the Fellow since his Return from
him, but am informed that his Answer back is that he cannot wait on your
Excellency till the Spring and then will readily go down if you should want
him. I have talked lately to the Wolf and Devall’s Landlord about their
going down and found them very ready and willing to go now if the Gunn
Merchant had been at Home, but seemed not desireous of goirig without him.

There has-lately been one hundred and’ odd of those Upper ‘Crecks and
Savannahs down at Moville [30] in order to' meet the Governor of New

Orlance. I made it my Business since their Return to enquire what they was

~ sent for about, and their first Talk was to make Peace with the Chocktaws all
the rest bemg entirely against us, and that he, the Governor, was sent by his
Great King to be a Father to all Indians, and that he had sent for them to let
them know that now we are comeing upon them, and that we was now prepare-
ing a great Army to cutt them entirely of &c., take Possession of their Lands,
and a great deal to this Effect too tedious to ‘trouble your Excellency with at
this present, the Woolf promiseing to tell you all when he sees you himself.
I have great Reason to believe the Wolfe is not so bad as many People reports
of him for I never knew a Fellow in this Nation stand more for our Interest
then he doth at this present. He makes a great Complaint to us in general,
and says there is dayly some of our People dcserung to the French Fort as
certainly there is and carrys various Reports much against our Interest. There-
fore the Wolfe has  declared openly that the first Englishman that he sees
deserting, for the Future he will actually kill him as I doubt not but will have
Oppertunitys enough of so doing, having so many idle Fellows amongst us that
follows Nothing in the World for a Livelyhood but going a Deer hunting
with Indians, and continually quarrelling and breeding' Ryots amongst them,
and I really believe if there is not some Method taken to call those Fellows
. out of the Nation that has no Imployment that in Time it will bring Warr upon
ourselves, but this I shall leave to your Excellency’s further Discretion.

There is an Indian Fellow lately arrived in this Nation from
He goes for a Savannah but I believe to be sent by the French by his Talk
being as follows:

That we had sent a great Army to the Northward: to cutt of all the Indians
at that Place and take their Lands from them, but the French joining with
them have entirely cutt our Armies off, and that he was now come to tell this
Nation that we was now raising another Army in order to take the Creek Land
from them, and that he would advise them to join with the French before it
was too late and they would protect them and their Lands too, and if they
did not they might expect our Armies here next Summer. This Talk in plw.se
your Excellency I had from a Head Man of the Aba.conaclwys

- About 20 Days ago two Savannah Fellows came in- here with six French
. Men’s Scallaps. They gave me an Account that théy came from the Allagainey
River, about ten Men of them. When they went out to War they steered their
Course to the Breed Nation in order to get some of them to join them which
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ly did.. They went to 2 Fort above one hundred Miles above New
Orlance at a Place called the Norche Old Town then had a smart Engagement
with both French and Indians. The Savannahs lost thrcef/Men, but. the Breed
none.  They brought their Scallaps to Shertee and his People, but they would
not receive them, so the two Fellows returned to the North froem whence they
ame, . They left five in the Breed Nation in order to join the Breed to go back
to War again. A few Days ago I received some Letters from my Partner in
the Breed |31| Nation wherein I have an Account that all is well there and have
not lost any Men there this last Summer, but that the Breed is now more
vigorous in defeating their Enemies than ever they knew them, and says they
will stand by their Land while they can find an Englishman to supply them
* with Ammunition.

The Presents your Excellency was pleased to send last Summer very much
affected the Hearts of them Indians to our Interest, and if they had not got
them they really must have quitted their Land, for the Enemy keeping them
so close confined at Home, they are not able to supply themselves either with
Powder or Bullets.

The Precident and Assistants of Georgia has sent me 500 weight of
Powder and 1000 weight of Bullets which I received at Augusta before 1 came
away with Flints, Knives and Paint, but cannot get it to the Breed Nation before
March, travelling being now rendered very difficult, thereforc shall be obliged
to stay for a- Guard og fifty or sixty Men.

If your Excellency with the Advice of the Honourable Council should
think it proper to make them People a Present of more Ammunition to encour-
age them to protect their Land and defeat their Enemies, the only Time it
could assist them would be for it to be at Savannah Town by the first of June
for it is generally a dry Time of the Year, and a Guard is easily got to protect
us to their Nation. If there is any thing that offers against the Interest of this
Nation or the Breed, your Excellency may depend of being acquainted with it
by every Oppertunity. I have Nothing more at present to add and am

Your Excellency’s most obed1ent and most humble Servant,

JOHN PETTYEROW

CERTIFICATE OF GIETON HOWLEY AND
GEORGE GELRIWELL

The Certificate of Gieton Howley and George Gelriwell dated October

the 15, 1755 [sic].? |
- In the Country of the Six Nations ‘
‘ October 25th[sic], 1754

Greeting, Gieton Howley, Missionary from the Commissioners of the
Honorable Society in London for propagating the Gosple sendeth Greeting: -

To all Persons to whom these Presents may come, this may certify you' that -
the Bearer hereof and the other five who attends him are Indians of the Cun-
ning Tribe, or of Hendricks Tribe as they are commonly called this Way, they

*This is an enclosure with the next document below,
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belong to the Upper Castle where Hendrick lives and are all of them near
Relations to that same Chief. We have no Reason to suspect that they are
going upon any civil [sic] Design, and it is to be hoped as they are our Allies
and of the Mohawk Nation, they will meet with Kindness every where among
the English Settlements. They say they are going upon publick Business to
some of the Southward Nations and as they are your Friends to be hoped they
will meet with Hospmlhty

GreTON Howmy

GEorGE GELRIWELL

THOMAS NIGHTINGALE TO GOVERNOR GLEN

32| Letter to His Excellency the Governor from Thomas N1ghtmgalc
dated at the Congrees January 17th, 1755. '
- Congrees, January the 17th, 1755
Sir, The Waters being impassable did not get to the Nation with the
Ammunition till the 13th Instant, though without any Damage. 1 thought
proper to acquaint your Excellency at my Arrival there that six Indians of the
Five Nations had been in there three Days with Tokens of Peace, and a Pass,
the Copy of which is inclosed; there was also two Messengers went Express,
the one, Edward Guest, the othcr, Joseph Oliver, late of the Cherokees and are
gone thither on the same Errand. The Letter to the Catawbaws I scrupled
the Truth of by Reason there was neither Date of the: Year nor Name subscribed
to it. It was to invite the Catawbaws to meet some of the Five Nations in a
particular Place when the Turkeys gobble, and that Capt. McCoye was gone
to Carolina with a Letter the same Purport and Tokens. However my scruple-
ing the Truth of that, Edward Guest showed me another, nothing like the
former, directed to the Catawbaws and Cherrockees with the Governor of Vir-
ginia’s Hand to it. It was to invite the Cherroekees and them to assist them in
the Spring against the French. I came to the Congree expecting to get Oppet-
tunity of sending this short Account to your Excellency before my People set
_from Town that your Excellency if Occasion there was might send me further
Instructions who am
Your Excellency’s humble Servant -

Tuos. NIGHTINGALE

ENOCH ANDERSON TO GOVERNOR GLEN
|33| Letter to His Excellency the Governor from Enoch Anderson:

January the 21st, 1754

MAY IT PLRASE YOUR ExcELLENCY, the Bearer comes to inform you that
the Report of the Southard killing the Cherokees is only a Fool’s Report, and
for Fear your Excellency should be uneasy he comes to 2cquaint your Excellency
of it and to acquaint that his People has met the Southard and shook Hands
and smoaked Tobacco together.

I am no Lingister, but as near as I could understand him this is the Head
of his Business and to tell the well Wish that he has for the white People, and
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also desires that your Excellency may be so good as to victual him and his
Wench and Child, and also him and others of his People is willing to assist the
English against the French Enemy. This from your very humble. Servant
to command,

o EnNocH ANDERsON
Posteript. They was victualed at Mrs. Burnets.

THOMAS NIGHTINGALE TO GOVERNOR GLEN
Letter to His Excellency the Governor from Thomas Nightingale.
Dated at the Catawbaws Nation, February 1st, 1755
Sir, I met your Excellency’s Messenger the 31st January on my Way
down with the inclosed about 18 Miles from the Nation with whom I returned
and had the Letters interpreted by Matthew Toole.the next Day to the Haggler
and a few others. They was mightily pleased and return your Excellency
Thanks for your Trouble and design to set of for Charles Town in 15 Sleeps.
I am your Excellency’s humble Servant
Tuos. NIGHTINGALE

SIX NATIONS TO THE CATAWBAW NATION

To the Sachims and Warriors of the Catawbaw Nation.®

Frienps anp BrotHers, The 20th August last arrived here in our Camp
Thugh Shaw and Laridagos with 8 more Warriors of the Six Nations in their
Way to War against the Catawbaws. We prevailed upon them to stay a few
Days until the Arrival of Scaroncatha, alias Monacatooths, now Half King,
and one of the Chief Warriors of the Six Nations who made the following
Speech “telling them that the French had invaded their Hunting Ground and
“taken it from them, and they were the People they must fight against, and
“make Peace with their Brothers the Catawbaws.”.

Upon which the ten Warriors got two French Scalps and returned back

to the Six Nations. After which, Capt. Mackay being going to South Carolina,
Monacatootha with the other Wamors made the following Speech and sent
two Strings of Wampum, one of them all white, the other black and white.
“We the Warriors of the Six Nations invite you to come to Winchester when
“the Turkeys gobble, that is, in March or the beginning |34| of April when
“we will meet you and shake Hands. Our Kings have nothing to do with
“making Peace, we the Warriors are the People that must make Peace, and if
‘“you come at that Time you may depend upon our making Peace which will
“be firm and lasting. Let your Kings come along with you and listen to what
“we the Warriors agree upon. If you should neglect comeing at that Time we
“shall think your Hearts are not good toward us, and the War must go on,
“but to convince you that we speak with an open Heart we have requested our
“Brother the Governor of Virginia to assist in making this Peace lasting and
“firm between us, you and your Allies.”

* This is an enclosure with the docement which follows below.
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In Token of which.the Governor of Virginia and the King of England’s 3
great War. Captain sends the String of black and white Wampum to. our
Brothers the Catawbaws to assure them that what is here said by the Wamors
of the Six Nauons is true.

CATAWBAW KING AND HEADMEN TO GOVEi!NOR GLEN

The Talk of the King and Headmen of the. Catawbaw Nahon to their

Brother the Governor of South Carolina
 January 21st, 1755

We the Warnors of this Nation are obliged to their loving Brother the
Governor and beloved Men for the Care they have in sending us a Supply of
Ammunition to defend us against our Enemy for which we all return’ you a
great Thankey. _

Our Ears has always been open to your Talkandalwaysshallbemuse of
your Goodness to us. ,

~ We have lately received from the Warriors of the English Camp a Letter
with four Strings of Wampum to acquaint us that there was some Enemy de-
signed again us, but was prevented by the English Warriors.

Some of the Head Men of the Five Nations desire us to meet them to
confirm our Pease when the Turkeys gobble; the Letter we have sent to you -
to see, understanding one like it is come to you by Capt. McCoye if so we may
depend on the Truth of it.

' InafewDaysafterWereoetvedthatLetter came in six Indians of the
Five Nations which belong to the old white headed Man called Hendrick of -
the Upper Mohawk Nation which we received as Friends and Brothefs.

They told us a few stragling Fellows belonging to the Quennick, Hawger
and Naw, Ute, Hah Nation in the Interest of the French they met with that
was comeing to War against us whom they endeavoured to turn back but could
not tell if they did.

We have a Desire to see you ever Chief Brother, to know what we rmust
do concerning the Letter, and if you are willing, a few of our old Men will
come to hear your Answer, besides we have a great deal more'to talk about.

AMMUNITION DELIVERED TO THE CATAWBAWS

|35| Mémorandum. of Powder and Bullets and Flmts dehvered to. the.
Catawba.w Indtans by Mr Nightingale :

January 21=31t, 1755
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Ammunition divided:
to Newstee Town, 2 Caggs of Powder, 2 of Bullets;
to Nawsaw, 2 Do of Powder, 2 Do of Bullets;
to the Villidg, 2 Do of Powder, 2 Do of Bullets;
to the Sugar Town, 2 Do of Powder, 2 Do of Bullets;

. to the Corrow Town and Peedee, 2 Do of Powder, 2 Do of Bullets;

to New Town, 2 Do of Powder, 2 Do of Bullets;
Flints equally divided = -

- JOHN FITCH TO GEORGE CADQGAN

|36| Letter from John Fitch to George Cadogan, Esq. dated at
New Savannah, February 16th, 1755

Str, The followmg Akcount I think n
you may acquaint thé Government of the same if you think fit:’

to communicate to you that

On Saturday the r5th of February I had Intelligence at the Indian Cam

at New Savannah that six Northward Indians has crossed the

River Savannah

the Day before-at Augusta near Mr. Martin Campbels which put the Inhab-
itants in some Uproar for Fear there may be more of them lurking about con-
sidering the great Mischiefs they have done from Time to Time before this,

Upon this I acquainted the Chekesaw Indians of it as I

happened to be

then at their Camp, whereupon they immediately tock the Alarm and went
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out in search of them and in their Way met a Negroe Fellow belonging to Mr.
Duronzeaux who.told them they were near his Master’s House where they soon
discovered them painted and. armed well, after the Indian Fashion, some of
them.at the same Time sculking behind Trees as their Custom is when they are
bent upon Mischief, but finding themselves discovered, they very artfully sung
up the Peace Song, but this Stratagem would not take, for they were soon
disarmed and made Prisoners and carryed into the Town to the King’s House
where, after they were seated and Victuals got for themm, I came in with a very
good Chekesaw Interpreter along with me and was desired to sit down at the
Head of their rear Cabbin close by the Leader or Headman of the said six
Northward, and after the Pipe and Tobacco was handed about was desired to
ask them if any of them could talk English, and found that one of them could. -
Upon this they desired me ask them of what Nation they were, and they an-
swered Mohawks and were come to make Peace with them. Hereupon they
desired to know how long they were travelling from their Nation upon Errand,
and they said four Months. To this they replyed that they thought it strange
they should take so much Pains to come to make Peace with a- handfull of
People so remote from them. To which they very artfully answered that the
Commanding Officer of our Forces on the Ohio Expedition had sent them to get
them and all the friend English Indians to go against the French there the
Spring following. Hereupon they desired me ask them for their Paper or Pass
from that Officer, to which their Answer was that they forgot it in the Catawbaw
Nation. Whereupon the Headman of our People readily replyed it was strange
if it was so; that they could not send a Runner back for a Thing so material,
and finding upon the whole that they doubted, he told them that they must:
not think they were Fools for that they could plainly see by every Token that
they were Rogues and Enemies that came to kill and destroy them and carry
as. many of their People off as they could. Calling upon this one ‘of their
Women who with her Mother and two Children were taken by the Northward
about two Years before and had made her Escape. This Woman they asked
if she knew any of them and she said she did two of them and perfectly trem-
bled with Passion telling her People if they were old Women. they might 1371
save them, but if Men and Watriors to kill them directly.

Upon this they called a Council and the whole Mult:tude unammously
agreed to put them all to Death. - Accordingly they were led out to some Dis-
tance where an Ambuscade was laid for them of about twenty Men to shoot
them down upon a Signal given which was accordingly executed; four- being
shot down and scalped, one' takeri alive which put to Death after fifteen
minutes Torture or thereabouts of Fire and Swor? and scalping together after
their Manner. = And’ the sixth, warmed in the Body, made his- Escape though
pursued by several; andnssupposedbybemgmkedandswnmmgofthe Creeks -
to have parished for Want in the extream Cold and Frost that happened the
Night after, which is the whole in' the Surprize and Suddenness of the Affair
that I can. reoollect (except this) that I observed to them before they killed
thiém, that their Arms, Cloaths, and all were of the English make and Fashion,
upon which the Head Man asked me if I loved them (as though resenting that
I should speak up for their Enemies) to which replyed that they ‘were their
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own. Colour and not mine, and might-love or hate them as they thought fit, and

finding that I-had no Room to prevail in-their Behalf I tho%ht fit to retire,

least if any of them escaped they- might report to their own People hereafter

that the White People had 2 Hand in their D&trucnon, a.nd this is-the whole.

‘that I remember-at’ present from Sir,
- Your humble Servant,

‘ = Jox-m Frrcx-r

MARIEE—FAMME [DUIRTP] LAVALLEE TO HIS EXCELLENCY
THE GOVERNOR ‘

‘ Moxsmux, Ne trouvea [sic] point mauvea [m] sy _|e prand [ic] la Lib-
erate [sic] de [vous] de [vous] [sic] emportuner [sic] [pauvre?] [l’Ecn
ture?] [n d’atribue?]. Je [vous] suppliée [sic] qu’a votre seul merite que je
[suxs] obligée de [exercer] comme étant la [seulle] Personne [sur] laquelle
jaurais Foy. Nayant point voulu me [rapporte] 3 la [Déclaration] de la
Veuve du deffeunt Baury touchant la [Mort] de mon Mary. Homme Pierre
La Vall’e connu [également] dun Homme [verteux] [et] [Chrétien] Sol-
dart [sic] de la Mobille qui [était] dans le Lieux [sic] lorsque le dit La Vallee
[est] décéde; [donc] je vous envoye la Déclaration que la ditte 4] Baury a
fait au Consexl Supéneur de la Louzianne [sic].
 Pour que vous [ayez] la Bonté de voir sy la [sic] ditte Déclaration est
Veritable. [Et] sy setta [sic] est efectic [s#] je vous prire d’avoie la Bonté |38|

de levee [Lettre] [montrée?] [od?] mon Anvoyee [s#¢] vu [certifie? ] & votre
Maim.

[Et] [pour] [lire] PInformation que [vous] serez peutetre obligé de faire
faire pour [Lavter.] [Cauze?] les [Dépenser] que [setta?] pouret vous avoie
[s#c] [cauze] vous [n’aurez] qu’a me le faire seavois [sic] pour que je [puisse]
vous en faire touchee le Moutant.

[Certes?] la [Gratte?] qu’a tant de vous celle qm 2 PHonneur d’imploree
votre Clemance. [Et] suis Monsieur,

Votre trez heumble Servante,
Marieg Fammz [puirT?] LAVALLEE

DECLARATION OF MARIE Gmmvmm;

.Aujourd’huy,selzxéme May uni sept [cent] cmquante quatred [.m:] cett
Ann est comparue [sic] a& [GrcEe?] du Conseil Superieur de la Luiusianne
[#ic] Marie Geneviere [feindein?] Veuve dé [deffunt] Baury cy-devant [dem-
eurante? ] aux Iles [Kamad?], de present [en cette Ville Ety?] demeurante;
Laquelle nous a dit quen I’Année mil sept [cent] quarante neuf au Mois de
May le [Es?] Sauvages Chicacha, 1 Chactar [sic], Abeeca, et mal Coqums joinu
ensemble, [fraperint!] au [d’Lleu?] [des?] Arcangar, tuerent puisieuer [Per-
sonnesi ] et [prirent] Prisonniere la Declarance [sic]; qu'ils [L’a meueretre?]
dans la Nation Chicuchar [sic] et quelque [Temps apres] chez [les] [Anglais]
& Charleston, o [elle] 2 demeure pendant six Moise [sic]. Quc [de]a] elle
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fut & [Gatiry?] [on ny?] appartenance aux [Anglaise]; qu’étant 3 Charleston
vers le Mois de September ou Octobre uni sept cent cinquante [un]; elle
[aprés] [faire] [Connaissance?’] [qui a?] nommé Lavallée anciennement
Embly eu cette Cousine Frangoise de [Mution?], y demeurait dans un petite
Maison pioche la Prison et ye mourut; [qu’elle] allait souvent le voir -pendant
sa Maladie et se trouva méme [chez!] luy [lorsqu’il] mourut et [quelle]
méme La [sic] [enseveli] et 2 [assiste] au [meutre] enterre dans le méme
terrain qu'il occupait attendu que les [Anglais] ne [routinier] point [’Enterre]
aimer attendue. sa [Relxgmn], quil [n’as aine] aucune [Dieux?], quil était
[contraint]-de demander savie [sic] [n’ayant] pair [vue] [punir?] [seul?] luy
et nous a fait [sic] la présente Déclaration pour servir et valoir a qu'il appar-
tiendra et a [telle] Fins qui de [Raison affirment] [love?] et qui est q|39l cy de-
meurer veritable [eux ou am?] cet Concience [m] [donc acte?] et a déclare
[ne ¢a voir &crire ny ssignu?] de ce [Enquir] suivane [si] POrdonnance.

CuamMmaLrou

RICHARD SMITH TO GOVERNOR GLEN
Letter from Richard Smith, Indian Trader, to his Excellency the Governor

Kehowe, the 23d March, 1755

May 1T PLEASR YOUR ExceLLENcY, At my Return into the Nation I de-
livered your Letters to Mr. Beamer and consulted with him to put your Excel-
lency’s Instructions into Execution. I set of for Chote the 22d of February
with Mr. Beamer’s Son and arrived there the 27th following. I went to Old
Hop and interpreted your Letter to him and told him all you desired me; his
Answer was, he could say nothing till his Head Men and Warriors came in
from Hunting which would be in about 4 or § days Time. He desired me to
wait till they came in as he inclined to send sooner, but -had no body at- Home
I waited till the gth Day of March which Day the Warriors all came in. I went
to Old Hop and told him I was in hopes he would give me an Answer as soon
as possible. That I know your Excellency did long to see his Brothers. He
told me I should have his Answer as soon as he could get the Heads of the 7
Towns together for that Purpose the 15th Inst. He told me to go Home and
get ready that they would set of in eight'days Time from that Day so I expect
they are on their Way. As soon as they come this Length, Mr. Beamer, Jos.
Aron and I shall accompany them to Town and observe in every particular your
Excellency’s Instruction. As for the Number of them I am aftzud it vnll
exceed the Number you pointed at. I remain,

Your Excellency’s most obedient humble Servant,
Ricuarp SMmiTH

LACH McGILVRAY TO GOVERNOR GLEN

|40f Upper Creeks, Feb. 1st, 1755

May 1t pLEASE YoUR Exceriency, By this Oppertunity I have the Hon-
our to convey a Letter delivered to me by the Commandant of the Allebawma
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Fort, who told me it was from the Govemor of Orlea.ns and intended for your
Exeellency

- As the Tndians are but just begmmng to come in from éir Hunt, I have
had nio Oppertunity to converse with the Head Men therefore can have nothmg
material to communicate, but it is most certain that the Governor of Orlears
made a vigorous Push last Summer. at Mobile, to set on the Creek Indians to
. break out with the English, all the little, low, mean, insinuating, malicious Lies,
that the French Policy could suggest, was made use of to impose upon the
Indians, but after all, there was severals of them came away not well satisfied:
of all which shal be able to give your Excellency a full Account when I come
to Charles Town.

His Excellency the Governor of Georgia, has thought proper to acquamt
the Upper and Lower Creeks of his Accession to that Government, by Letter;
that, for the Lower Creeks directed to Mr. Galphin, and that for the Upper
Crecks to me which Letters also imports that he proposes to have an Interview
with them soon. As in all probability both the Invitations will happen much
about the same Time, ’m afraid there will be a great many more Indians go
to see your Excellency than is wanted, which 1 know will not be agreeable.

1 have sufficient Reasons to think that the Government of Georgia will
insist upon my being Interpreter on this Occasion, which in all probability may
not be in my Power being engaged to your Excellency before Mr. Reynolds
arrived at this Government, and although heissued out a' Proclamation, for-
bidding all Persons under the severest Penalties-to trade with any Indians
within ‘his Province without first having obtained a Lycence from under his
Hand and Sea); I hope it won’t be 2 Motive with him to refuse me 2 Lycence
because I am not at Liberty to serve him at this Juncture. It is well known
that I am at all Times ready and willing to serve my Country.

If your Excellency would be but pleased to write me two or three Lines
for my further Guidance in these Matters, it would be the greatest Favour that
could be conferred on,

Your Excellency’s most devoted and obedient, humble Servant,

Lachu. McGiLvray
LACH. MCGILVRAY TO GOVERNOR GLEN

|41| Sir, having missed the Oppertunity of a Conveyance, I layd hold
of this, the Gun Merchant is not yet come in from his Hunt; Malichi is upon
the Recovery, the French use their utmost Efforts to get him down to Mobile
this Spring.

Accounts lately from the Checkesaw Nation by one John Brown sdy, that
the Chekesaw’s lost but one Man all this Winter by the Enemy, and that they
don’t talk of moving, which I am heartily glad to hear.

If the Crown of Great Britain was but sensible and take into Consideration
what a vast Extent of Country it will lose by the Chekesiws being drove, doubt-
less the Munstry would take' effectual Means to support them in their Pos-
sessions.

A Spanish Oﬁicer is daily expected at the Covetaws with twenty Attendants
and considerable Presents, his chief Errand is to purchase the Appalatchi Old
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Fields. The French Policy keeps the Indians in a kind of Confusion; give me
Leave to assure your Excellency that I have spared no Pains to confute and ex-
pose the French Schemes. I am afraid I have intruded too much upon your
Patience, and as I don’t doubt but Mr. Mclntoch has wrote you fully shall
beg Leave to conclude; ,

Your Excellency’s most obedient and devoted humble Servant,

: - LacH. McGiLvray
, A considerable Number of Sava.na,hs are expected into this Nation this
Spring. I hope this long Epistle may be excused: I forgot to tell your Excel-
lency that the French have got De Lantinyack; some French were down at the
Lower Creeks, and flattered him to the Allebamas with Hopes of a Pardon,
was sent down to Mobile the other Day by Water.

LUD. GRANT TO GOVERNOR GLEN
Cherokees, Tomatly Town, Mar. 27th, 175§

May 1T PLEASE YOUR Excerrency, In my last by Mr. Gaudy of the 23d
Instant, I told your Excellency that I had not Time then for Fear of missing
the Oppertunity of giving your Excellency an Account of the Indians’ Reso-
lution to proceed no further than the Congrees; 1 should in my next relate
what passed at the several Meetings held in Chote by the Head Men and
Woarriors of the seven Towns over the Mountains.

- While Axson, the Languister, and myself were waiting at Tomatly for an
Account of the Great Warriors with his Company their coming in from Hunt-
ing, we heard there passed by Cheawee, where Mr. Hunter lives, two Men
from Virginia whom, when I with Axton came to Chote afterwards, we found
to be one Guest, a-Messenger, and Oliver, his Interpreter, wmeuq a Letter
from Lieutenant Governor Dinwiddie inviteing the Warriors young Men
of this Nation to assist the White Men to [dispossess] the French, of some
Lands they had clandestinely taken Possession of and were dwgmng and en-
deavouring to encroach farther on the Lands belonging to these and other
friend Indians, in order in Time to destroy the Indians, and for the Present
to spoil their Hunting and so incapacitate them from prowd.mg for themselves,
Cloathing and other Necessaries of Life &c. '

Mr. Butler sent us Word that a Messénger had passed by his Town without
calling at his House or any other, only an Indian who by chance spoke to Oliver
in the Woods, told the said Butler that they were Messengers from. Virginia
and had a great Paper from the Governor thereof to the Head Men over the
Hills and to Canacachte, Old Hopp in particular. After we heard this I, being
curious to hear what their Business was and to give your Excellency an Aocount
thereof, with Joseph Axson set of next Day for Chote in bitter Weather which
had like to have cost me my Life and in Company only with the old Warrior
and one young Warrior more, and the third Day after, in hard Frost and Snow,
come to Old Hap’s House in Chote, to whom I read your Excellency’s Letter,
with which I believe he was unfeignedly well satisfied, and entertained us kindly
with all the Variety his House afforded which at that Time of the Year, and
the Indians being just come from Hunting, was not dispisable.
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He told us that he had received a Letter from the Governor of Virginia,
that the same with your Excellency’s Letters, should be read a second Time
at a Meeting in the Town House next Day, that all might hear and remember
it, but that he could not nor would give no Answer to cither, till the Great
Warrior who was not come in from Hunting should be at Home, whom with
others he dayly expected.

The next Morning the White Men were all called to the Town House
and the Letters read and interpreted, and I found the chief Contents of the
Governor of Virginia’s Letters to be as before related, and further he had
appointed them a Place of their first Rendeavous where they were to be met at a
Place called Red Creek by one Colonel Buckannan and there to be supplied with
Necessaries, Arms, and Ammunition for their farther Journey and Presents
promised them, Whlch last Article, together with a great and constant Trade,
which was promised them only by Guest, the Messenger, took much with thun
all; so that to me they, in general, HLLIII(L‘ willing to go to Virginia, though I
verily believe more |43| for the sake of the Presents and Trade from that
Colony than for Honour, and by Reason of an almost hatred that [they] have
contracted for most of the Traders from Carolina occasioned by their Misman-
agement which I have hinted at in many of my former Letters; and if they
were yet extant might be seen.

Notwithstanding the many and wholesome Laws which from Time to
Time have been made and enacted for the better regulating and carrying on 2
Trade with the Indians in which the Peace of the Province consists, and with
those of that Nation in particular; and the late Ordinance made by your Excel-
lency, the Council and a Committee of the Lower House at that Time in Council
present, yet there has not been one single Article observed by a Trader: Mr.
Elliot begun well, and I believe would have continued, but finding himself to
be the only Man, and a Stranger, soon found he must either follow the Multi-
tude, endanger his own Safety, or find some other Way of living, which at that
Time he could not safely do, in respect of his Credit from his Merchants,
without hurting both himself and them; I don’t pretend to say Mr. Elliot is
without Faults, but this far I dare affirm, that he would be cautious not to hurt
his Creditors or endanger the Peace of the Province, were he among Men who
had Regard to the Laws, and their own and the Province’s Safety.

I am confident there will be many and greivous Complaints made to your
Excellency concerning the Trade, in cheating the Indians in the Prices of Goods,
especially of light Goods, such as Linnings, Flannels, &c. &c., of fals Stilliards,
short Yards, and little Measures, which I am conscious are not groundless in
that respect on severals in this Nation, and although the Trade at Present is at
such 2 low Ebb and the Price of Skins so smal, that it cannot be afforded cheaper
especially Strouds, and Duffles, yet they may and ought to have the Yard and
Measure your Excellency appointed; the Iron Yards which were made, and
appointed to be left at the respective Towns in the Nation, were never brought
up, but left at McGregor’s House, where they are stil if not lost; and few or
none of the Powder Measures were brought up, the Traders pretending they
had no punctual Orders to carry them; neither would the Indians have rejected
the Scales and Weights, had they had the half Pound; all under might have
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gone for nothing, but the Indians when the Traders begun to weigh Skin by
Skin ‘soon found out the Loss they would sustain-in many Drouglits, not being
forerly used to such Ways of Trade.” However had thc Traders ‘Had Reso-
l\htxon eo:fh 44| st the ﬁrst, to stand to-the Articlés of—the“Ordma.ncc, the

d not have helped themselves, ind in a short Time 1t would have
beoome familiar to them.

How the Tradess to the Creekswﬂlmmntam their dee haufter I
shall not take upon ‘me to determine; for a Body' of them came' this W‘mwr_
wheanasoverthéI-Idls,vnthm4daysMarchofGreatTcrequa,mththe1r
Skins, and from_thenice, seént in by some of this Nation gnd their own People
to Mr. Elliot to ¢ome out to them with'Goods to trade. ' The Little Catpenter
was to have gone out to.Mr. Elliot, but theé Gréat-Warriors sendirig to him
for Horses to bring in his Skins hindered him from going to thé Creels, and
which being against his Will to go at first he wis g ladof So Mr. Gaudy sént
Kelly with three thousand Weight of Leathers’ Worth of Goods to trade with
them. WhatHandhehasmadclhavenotyethmd,butltlsreportedthat
they are very troublesome to trade with for raw Skins in theWoodsa.ndthmk
ing themselves cheated, want the Goods for really Less than the Prices of this
Nation. However 1 believe Mr. Gaudy having no Head Man of this Nation
with his Goods, will have little Reason to go a second Time, for I think it not
lawful to endanger the Trade and Peace o% that Nation, when it was so advan-
tagiously settled by Mr Oglethorp and. the Pravmce of Carolma foany ° sz

ago. .
; TwoDaysa&erAxtonandIamvedatChote,bemg gzsdofFeb
‘came Richard Smith with' Mr. Beamet’s half bred Son, 31}10 delivered . ;lu:;y,

Letter to Ol,d Hap from your Emllency who was wc]l plmsad thexe.thh,
thougb but with 2 qeemmg qunﬂ'mence to Srmth who the s seooq V‘:sit he pal\d
hun,whmhvmbyhxmself a&qrhecameout&dmhxm,sp.td believed him
to be the greatést Rogue in the Nation. To which T ‘made. Answer  that
Opnnon of him was not consistint with his former Behawour, who, was said . to
be the sole Preserver with the Great Warrior of every White Man’s Life in
the Nation; and I observed afterwards he was careless of giving himself n
Trouble Becz.use Old Hap gaye but little Heed to what hie said. or advised,
IWﬂsme“, Y Who_%iigmsﬁthhqu, 13 ﬁ . cxieirsds) A et
18 last 1 ““J‘E"%”a , d, Rim, not to sulter, amith to be lus Inferpreter
rolina, who in former T’upa had adv;secland

Ihmb&or?ﬂMdeammmgHaMmdﬁmthst_
have taken, against the Traders from Carolina, the Reasons of which dent
toanythmlnagManwhohvesandhavetxad@amongthemﬁndcthas%.,-
extravagant Trust the Generalty of the Traders give the. Indians whichif aot.
t:melyphta.stoptowxll|45|endm£atalConsequeneec,bothtotheTﬂadsﬂand

;- for it-i8 not natural; even among ourselves, much less. among Indians
whwe salcly ided by the Laws and,Tm of Nature to be kindly affectionated
to orie'whom we are daily afraid of, by Reason of a Debt which we are incapable
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to pay, and thus it is with these Indians, in respect to most of the Carolina
Traders, and alienates their Affections not only from the Traders but even
from the Place they come from, and this is the sole Reason why the Indians
covet and are fond of a Trade from other Places; because by that they think,
they will be supplied with Goods, and boldly and pleasently go to the Man, to
whom they are not indebted and buy them. Necessaries for Hunting is sufficient
to trust an Indian, and there is no Occasion to trust him to the Value of Pieces
of Strouds and Blankets to lye by in his Corn House, and which the Trader
must inevitably lose should he be either killed by his Enemy, or affronted
by any Ways which may, and often happens. '

Your Excellency may remember, in some of my former Letters in the
Spring, I mentioned one Paris, a Trader from Virginia, and Price, his Partner;
the former went in the Summer last for Virginia, and the latter to Carolina,
not having wherewith to answer his Credit in Virginia; when the said Paris came
there, one Guest, his Merchant and Father of this Guest who was sent into this
Nation as Messenger from Virginia, seized on his Leather and denied him any
further Credit, which obliged him here and there to pick up what Goods he
could get, and consisted only in some single Matchcoats, Northward Blankets,
and some other smal Things, of inconsiderable Value, which he packed up in
Baggs and brought two White Men, (who they say fled from Virginia for the
Press) and a Northward Indian who had lived some Time in this Nation and
had gone in with Paris to Virginia; these he sent in to Chote, desiring a Guard
from thence into this Nation, and Long Jack’s Brother called Chekesaw, with
some others, went out to conduct and guard him in hither. It seems Paris had
told the White Men he had a Letter also from the Governor to Old Hap, and
had given the Indian a Letter of his own Writing, to Old Hap desiring him to
give no Credit to Guest, or his Languister, Oliver, that they would tell him
nothing but Lies and that Guest had stole the Governor’s Letter from him and
that he himsell was the Man to have brought it; and that they should keep
them both till he came into the Nation.

It happened that a Party of the Overhills Towns were at that Time out at
War, and about two days March from Chote, came up with the said White
Men and Indian, killed the Indian and brought in his Scalp with Paris, his
Letters, and the White Men to Chote; which Letter I heard read and very
much laughed at. i :

While I was over the Hills in Chote, passed by Long Jack’s Brother and
Paris keeping the other Side of the River for Toquo where his Woman lived,
which very much affronted Old Hap and 2ll the Warriors who were then con-
veened and sat in Council in the Town House |46 expecting there coming
when they found they were past, Old Hap, sent a Messenger for him, desiring
him to come forthwith that they might hear his Message, who next Day came
and being asked for the Governor’s Letter he had said to the White Men he
had brought, told them he had none, which much startled Old Hap, and put
him to a Pause, and some high Words passing between Paris and Guest, Old
Hap told Paris to be quiet, and as he had brought no Letter nor was 2 Mes-
senger, he should only mind his Trade, and as he had brought little or no
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Goods among them (save Whiske, a spmtuous Liquor it seems made of Rye
of which he had twenty Caggs) he-should therewith pay, according to his
Promise pay his Gaurds who had conducted him in, and out of the Nation. Old
Hap asked him why he lost his Way and passed the Town and whether- the
Governor had sent any Message to his Woman, and said he could ‘compare
him to nothing but a young Buck in rutting Time, who run hither and tlnther,
not minding where; after a Doe til he found her.

The 26th of this Instant came the Warrior of this Town l in the Morn-
ing to my House, and informed me that in the N1ght arrived a Messenger
from Chote, with great Expedition who gave an Account that 2 Warrior named
Caincs, after a People these call by that name, who had in the Winter with his
Company gone to War from Chote (he is 2 Fellow born in this Nation, and
when young was taken by the Northward where he lived till the last Peace,and
then with others came in here) that the said Warrior on fns Return homewards
was surprized by forty of the overlake Indians belo to the French; and
with his Men wxo were only but six, taken and tied, :.?t which he asked ‘them
(the Enemy) what Nation they were of, in their own Tongue, who, but few
or one only understood him, he told them he was also a Northward, but for
the present lived in Chote a good and peaceable Town; upon which the Enemy
after a Consultation as he reports, losed them and by his Persuasion are now in
Chote. When they arrived there, they were all brought into the Town Hous,
and Old Hap sent for, who when he was come there, looked sternly round upon
them, and turning to all the Warriors, said, here are.your Enemies who tied
youand came to kill you, you now know what to do with them, and’ immediately
in Anger ind Haste went out of the Town House, without saying another
Word, upon which- his own People knew he determined -they should dye; and
in-Histe in the Night, dispatched 2. Messenger to his Valley ordering: with
Speed all the young Men thereof to repair to Chote’ forthmth to assist; in the
Execution of the Enemy which was forthwith-obeyed. 1 could ‘not but think
with what Chearfulness, Alacrity, and Haste, some in the Night.and some in
the Day, they were with one Accord w1l]mg to shed Blood. Whether they
will continue in their Resolution over the Hills I know not, but the Warriors
over the Hill and this Warrior here, says they shall die, . I ha.r they are- kept
with a strict Eye though seemingly :careless, and that-the River on;both-Sides
|47| with all the Passes are every Night guarded. Mr. Gaudy is.to.pass by here.
this, Day as:I am informed so it is not possible for me to.give your Excellency
an Account of the Evem:hy him, it not as yet bmng brought to pass, the Tragedy_
being to be acted two Days'hence.

.L.cannot help mentjoning poor:Butler. whom T behevc your Excellensy has

:egard for,-and not undeservedly, for to my Knowledge there is not a. Trader
in this Nation, who trades with more Caution, and of whom the Indians com-
plain. least; which makes, others envy: him; he trades by a Yard and Measure
he had of me, the Yard I made by a three-foot Rule, but his Indians, with. many:
other ;Towris in. thJS’Vallcy made - but very: poor. Hunts. this- Wintef . past,:s0.
that 4 considerable Part of his Goods remain on his Hand. Expecting ia‘'summer
Hunt, and as far as I can learn he [deals] with one who is not able to trust
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long; and is much unacquamted with the precarious Nature of this Trade, which

chiefly and solely consists in the Indians makmg good Hunts, wh;ch every
Winter they do not.

- Docharty who was expected by others and dxd Kimself expect T 3 or 14
thousand Weight of Leather this Winter, had the Indians made but tollerable
Hunts will not reach to five thousand, Mr. Butler has taken more than any,
Man expected, though not in his own Town only; for the Indians knowing
he deals honestly by came from other Towns and traded with him. The Town
where he lives is hardly capable to maintain a Trader, and I hear his Merchant

is neither able nor willing to supply him with Goods to maintain the Trade
of a better.

~ 1 dayly hear more and more of the Indians’ Dissatisfaction in relation to
the Trade which is solely or at least in the greatest Measure, on account of the
Debts they owe, and which yearly increase. It really deserves to be speedily
looked into and by some Means prevented, for the Indians are now ready by
what I can learn by their Talk, to take all Measures (the killing of the Traders
which as yet. thcy talk nothmg of) to get rid of their Debts, they never being
capable of paying them and cloathing themselves, and it is to be supposed if a
Man' rightly considers the Nature of an Indian that Murther itself if they
thought they could get of unpunished, would not be a Lett, to the Design, and
if they could any other Way be supplied, had it not bccn hindered by your
Excellency’s wise Conduct and Lenity, would have been effected before this
Time, and now in the present Posture of Affairs the French would be mllmg
to embrace them and forget all former Offences which makes the securing of
these Indians to be most considerable, in Peace and Quiet.

I have been as punctual in my Informations, as is requisite at this Juncture,
seeing the Indians are themselves going down and shall never as Occasion
offers and requires, fail to be so in Time to come, and at Present with humble
Submission and Obedience to your Excellency’s commands beg Leave to sub-
scribe myself with Sincerity,

Your Excellency’s most obhgéd, most obedient and most humble Servant,
Lup. Grant

LUD. GRANT TO GOVERNOR GLEN

|48| Tomatly, Mar. 27th, 1755
May 1T PLEASE YoUR Excerrency, I forgot to give your Excellency an
Account of a Letter, which 1 saw at Chote when I was last there, and which
Guest brought in thcrc, from the Warriors and Head Men of the Six North-
ward Nations, desiring their Assistance as they were theirs and the English’s
Friends to help them to expell the French of the Lands they had taken Posses-
sion of belonging to them and the English, that they had got from their King
a sharp and keen Hatchet for that Intent, and that they expectéd these People
had another, and that both should lift it up against the common Enemy, the
French, that when they were met, togéther they should eat, drink, and smoak,
and ever after continue Friends and renew the Friendship before the Governor
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and his beloved Men, but that if they failed to come according to Appomtment
they would think their Hearts not streight.

This Letter was also read in the Town House and mterpreted and seemed
to be very well liked by all, as commonly ‘all new Things are. 1 beg:your
. Excellency’s Pardon for this second Trouble and am in all Subxmssxon and
Sincerety,

Your Excellency’s most obliged humble Servant,

Lup. Grant

LUD. GRANT AND JOSEPH AXSON TO GOVERNOR GLEN

Cheroekees, Tomatly Town, March 23d, 175§

May 1t PLEASE YoUR ExcerLrency, The hourly Expectation of Mr.
Gandy’s passing this Valley on his Journey to Ninety Six makes it impossible for
me to give f'o ency a full Account of what passed at the Meeting of
the over hill Indians least 1 should miss the Oppertunity of informing your
Excellency of a Secret which they keep to themselves and neither told Joséph
Axson nor me thereof, until the Warrior of this Valley, accordmg it seems to
Old Hap’s Orders, declared at a Meeting in this Valley; which is that the War-
rior of Tomatly was ordered to tell all the Warriors, who were by him ordered
for Carolina should proceed no further than the Congrees, that Old Hap’s
Reason therefore was that he had from Time to Time accordinig to. your Excel:
léncy’s Orders and Desire sent down the best of his Wairiors to Charles Town,
and‘that by Reason of Sickness they contfacted there; or on theit Joumléy hom‘e-
wards, they had lost their- Lives and their Bones did ‘yet lyé ofi 'the: Path; and
were there to be seen in many Places on the Path and 1f by Strength of: ‘Consti-
tution some of them'did reach- theit own Nation yet they: dyed:before they
reached to their respective Towns. That it was not out of any Disobedience to
your Excellency’s Orders he had given such Orders, but merely for the Preser-
vation of his best Men, and that in Time he said he was afraid he should have
none to send as Messengers to your Excellency or to preserve his Nation from
the Insults of the Common Enemy |49| which he was certain was neither your
Desire nor Intent in sending for them, that therefore he had given such Orders,
that they should acquaint your Excellency, once, twice and thrice, of their being
come thither in order to hear, there from your Exoellency’s own Mouth, what
Orders and Commands you had to give and injoin them; that if your Excellency
should not come in Person thither they should proceed no. farther but return
hotewards. He also (Old Hap) desired.the Warriors to inform your Excel-
lency, that when you should come to the Congrees; if then, or-any Time after,
your Excellency once would proceed to Kewohee, he, if alive, would there with
Gladness meet and talk with your Excellency of whatever should be’ needful.

Though the Warriors nor Old Hap himself gave Axson nor any. other
Whitéman Orders to acquaint your Excellency of this until' they should come
to the: Congrees, yet we thought it highly requisite to inform your-Excellency
of the same, that your Excellency might not be surprized suddenly of - their
Resolution; but might have Time to dctermme what your Excellency shall see
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fic to be done. May it please your Excellency begging Pardon for this Trouble,
we humbly beg Leave to subscribe ourselves,

Your Excellency’s most humble, most obedient and most obliged Servants,

Lup Granr

Josern Axson
P. S. The Indians over the Hills determine to set of from there the 27th
Instant, but believe it will be longer before they can be in Readiness and have
their Business done; the most of the Head Men being but lately come from
Hunting, The Letters which Tottershall brought up were all safely delivered.

LUD GRANT AND JOSEPH AXSON TO GOVERNOR GLEN

Tomatly, the 24th March, 1755

May 1T pLEASE YOUR ExceLLEncy, Since 1 wrote my last, Joseph Axson
and myself went to Tomatly Towm House, in order to hear of the old Warrior
what else Old Hap had told him of his Intentions concerning their going to
Carolina; and finding him in 2 good Humour (for he is seldom otherwise with
our Colour) he went on with his Discourse as follows, he said, Old Hap would
have (wrote as he told him) to the Governor before the Warriors went down,
but they intending to set of soon had deferred it till that Time, and that by
them he would write to your Excellency; the Contents of which should be good,
that he would send to your Excellency a Belt of Wampum as a Token of his
Love and Friendship, that he was now sensible of your Excellency’s Care of
him and his People in %enerzl; and that as the French had and were stealing

theirs and the |50| English Lands they were ready to assist the English in the
Defence thereof.

He said_further that as your Excellency had proposed building a Fort
to defend the Nation from the Enemy when they should be attacked the whole
Land and Country belonging to him and his People was your own, and it was
what you pleased to build Forts where you had a Mind it should be; that he
'mtenc{ed to tell your Excellency, he expected to see you at Kehowee, and he
would desire a Messenger to be sent by your Excellency from Ninety Six, to
give him Notice of your coming that he might have Time to conveen his best
Men and Warriors to guard your Excellency to that Place, and there to talk
with your Excellency Face to Face, which he had long wanted to do, and hoped
to hold your Excellency in Token of his Love and Friendship, to the English in
general, strongly by the Hand, that the great King George his Father had
promised him and his People long ago, that he would protect them from the
French if they should at any Time be invaded, and now he saw plainly, by your
Excellency’s Care that the Great Xing had not forgot these People that he was
now glad, and his Heart streight, and there should be no more bad Talks, and
that as they depended upon none but the English, for what they might from
Time to Time stand in need of; so they would always love the English as
Brothers that sucked one Mother, and that they with the English were all the
Great King’s Children, as he himself had declared to them when over the Great
Water that now they should have but one common Enemy, that-if the French
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or any other People should be the English Enemy they should be theirs
likewise,

May it please your Excellency what else they may talk concerning thc
Trade the Warrior told us but little, but am perswaded they will have much to
say when they shall see your Excellency concerning the same; humbly begging
‘Pardon for this second Trouble we are again,

Your Excellency’s most humblc, and most obhged Servants,

Lup Grant
Joserr Axson:

WARRIOR OF TENNESSEE TO KING HAGLER

March 16th, 1755

Frienps AN BroTazrs, As the Governor of Virginia -has invited you and
us to come to assist him we are very willing for it, and hopes you are of the
same Mind we are; we are intended to set of, and sent this Lefter that you
may know our Minds, hopeing to meet with you [at] Reed Creek; then we
will both travel together. Our Head Man of Chote has given to me, the War-
ior of Tennessee, a sharp and keen Hatchet, which I doubt not Brothers but
your Head Man does the same to you; hoping you will send as great a Number
of your Men as possible you can, the more the better;, that we may be able to
defeat and subdue the Design of the Enemy. Our Head Man of Chote like-
wise sends the same. | 51| Talk to you, and as we are Friends and Brothers with -
one another, he. likewise hopes that when we go-together. against our: Enemies,
we both go, with ong, Intent of helping-one another; which plainly appear. when
we have our Hatchets and our Knives in Readiness against therm,

- We have seven Warriors out of our seven Towns, and each of them theu-
Gang of Men with them, that proposes to go. “We have sent over to the Valley
to the other Towns for them to come our Way and go with us. As for the
other Towns that is farther from us they will go by Tukseygey and are to meet
us at the first House. This is from,

THE Wmon oF TENNBSSE
his |
Tur WARRIOR or TENNEssER
Mark
P. S. Note thn't,from the above we set out in seven Nights.

CATAWBAW INDIANS TO GOVERNOR GLEN

To the Governor of South Ca.rolma

An Account of 2 Catawbaw Wench which she gives after her Escape from

the Mohawkes or the five Nations, by whom she was taken by Mrs. Russetts
and carried of. .

She heard that /they mtend to cut off every Soul of the Catawbaws for
Revenge, as the Catawbaws has formerly cut off some of the above: Indmns and
killed their Head Man.
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This Woman further says that she heard them say, in their House where

they talked; that they knew where the Catawbaws fetched their Water and
Wood and they would utterly destroy them.

King Hagler says he is not afraid of the People in this Country, but of the
French. This Woman came to me two Days before we came from Home and
this is the ninth Day we left our Nation.

Your Excellency sent but for eight of us, but we were afraid coming so
few; as we had one of our Men killed at his Door.

Just before we came away King Hagler says the Mohawk Indian that
escaped the Chekmws, was blled at his Nation by a. Cherokee Indian.

JAMES BOMER TO GOVERNOR GLEN

April the 28th, 1755

May 1T PLEASE YOUR ExcELLENCY, I have sent the Bearer down to you
with these Letters to acquaint your Excellency that Mr. Smith arrived Yester-
day at Kewee with the Little Carpenter and the Great Warrior, Old Cesar,
and some more from over the Hills, and had a great deal of Trouble before he
could get them to consent to go down; this is the second Time he has been
over for them, the first Time he and my Son went over for them in February
and they was not then come in from Hunting but they staid there till they did
come in and had a Meeting with them, and they agreed to come off in twelve
Nights after them, but they disappointed us; then Mr. Smith went over again
- and with much Ado has got |52| them the Length of Kewee and this Day had

a Meeting at the Fort and they got the Surgeon to write to you. I have all the
principal Men of the Lower Towns down with me and would have had them
down two Months ago if it was not for the Overhills People delaying and
their Excuse is they are afraid of loseing their People by Sickness.

I have a good Deal to acquaint your Excellency with, two [sic] tedious to
mention. We have had a great deal of Disturbances with the Indians this
Winter and had like to have had 2 War again between the Creeks and Cher-
roekees chiefly occasioned by the White People of Augusta. The Creeks has
killed a Cherrcekee Woman by their Stories from our Party to the other and
would been more Mischief done but I went out to their Camps and prevented it.

Mr. Smith and myself humbly begs your Excellency will grant us a fresh
Protection, as the other is out, for as long a Time as you please to grant us, that
we may do our Business after yours is done; and we have and always shall be
willing and ready to serve your Excellency and our Country while Life remains
from,

Your Excellency’s humble and obedient Servant to oommand,

Jamzes Bomen

P. S. Pray, Sir, dispatch the Bearer that he may meet 'us before we get
low in the Settlements, or we shall be forced to delay till he does meet us.
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THOMAS HARRISON TO GOVERNOR GLEN

Fort Prince George, Apnl the 29th, 1755

May 11 pLeAsE YoUR Excrriency, This Day from over the Hills came
the Head Men to the Fort, the Little Carpenter made the following Speech
and desired it to be sent to your Excellency as soon s possible. ' That Old Hop
had sent them as Messengers to desire your Excelléncy to come and meet him
at Kewee and hopes you will not fail to come to meet him; as he is Governor of
the Cherrokees he wants to settle the Affairs of the Nation with your Excellency.

He says he would have been very glad to have met your Excellency when
you was up but the Warriors was all in the Woods, and now the Enemy is so
thick about, that they cannot spare all-the Head Men out of their Towns so long
as to comne to Charles Town, but if you think proper to meet them here they can
soon settle Affairs with you. Old Hop further says as he has sent these seven
Warriours his Messengers to bring you up by the Hand that he desires your
Excellency to send him a Letter to let him know when you will come as he may
come to meet you at Kewee for he wants to have a_good Talk with you and to
scttle every thing right in the hearing of all his Warriors, They will set out
from here in three Days for Town and some of the Lower 53| Towns with
them which will be about Twenty in Number. I am Sir,

Your most humble and most obedient Servant,
Tromas Harrison

LUD GRANT TO GOVERNOR GLEN

Kewohee, Apnl the. zgth 175 5

MaAy IT PLEASE YOUR Excxnumcv, In my last of March past, I gave your
Excellency an Account of forty Northward Indians, their being come into
Chote, and that these People determined to kill them, supposing them to be
~ Enemies, which in reality I believe they certainly are; and though they come
into this Nation as Friends to these People, seldom or never go Home without
some of these Cherroekees Scalps. However upon a second Information, not-
withstanding all the young Men of the Valgy being sent for and went over for
that Intent; 1 heard afterwards, that these People said they were come in as
Friends, and that they. had not t:ed any of the Cherroekees or white Men in the
Wpods, as was first reported, only some of their Company (I suppose. their
Van Guard) came up first to the White Men and took them as Prisopers,
shewing them g Slave Stnng and run one of their Horses through with a Lance
and cut another grievously in the Buttock, upon which Noise the Cherrokee
Warrior hearing on the oppesite Side of the River, to which he had crossed
just before, called to the Enemy in their own Tongue, desireing them to forbear
until he came over to them who hmnng their own Language immediately
desisted. The said Warriour crossing the River and the Body of the Enemy
being come up, they talked together and agreed to come with him to Chote.
The Cherrockee Warriour is (in their Way) much of a Man, he was taken by
the Northward when a Boy, and at the last Peace when the Northward came
in to his own Nation, where he has stayed ever since, and has killed several of
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the Northward, and professes himself, (as I believe he is) a Friend to the
English; -his Name is Caiuka, At the Arrival of the Northward in Chote they
found several Savannas with whom they did not seem wejl-pleased, and told
these People that they were great Rogues and Liars, and .that they should not
harbour them.

I really believe the Savannahs to be professed Enemies to the English,
and that they have been the Occasion of much Blood shed, both of Indian and
White Men of this Nation; although the Northward called theémselves Friends
to the English when in Chotc yet it cannot be imagiried that any of the Six
Nations would come here, 1mmedmtely after sending to these People a Letter
inviting them to Virginia to confirm their Peace with one another, and to join
with them and the English against the French, which Letter I saw and read
when over the Hills as I intimated to your Excellency in one of my last by
Gaudy. It may be with Reason supposed |54] they come from the French with
Orders to find out the Strength and State of the Overhills, and to learn by
conversing with the Indians how they stood affected to the Enghsh which by
the Behaviours of the one to the other is at this Juncture not to be supposed
steady; they told these that the French were so strongly enforted that the
English could not drive them, and that all the Northward Indians were resolved
to stand Neuter, till they should see who prevailed, which with their télling
them there were a great many Enemy on the Path to Virginia, was the chief
Reason these Indians did not proceed thither, as they determined, but sent back
Guest the Messenger alone, only gave him a Letter of Compliment to deliver
to the Governor, the Contents of which your Excellency will hear from Bun-
ning, together with what passed publicly between these and the Northward at
the General Meeting, but their secret Conferrences which as I hear were many
none knows but themselves. It is reported that the Savannahs brought from
the rest of their People, who are a part of Shirtees first Gang and settled about
§ or six days March from Chote, some Pipes and Tobacco to these in token of
Peace, which when carried to Setticoe the Head Men took and threw into the
Fire. Notwithstanding which, the said Savannahs stay as yet openly over the
Hills, and tell these People they are not afraid to dye, which is a sufficient
Proof that the Cherroekees are afraid of the Northward, and that they judge
themselves incapable without Assistance to withstand 2 Body of them, were
they to come upon them in a hostile Manner, and which I’'m afraid in Time, if
not prevented, will come to pass.

While ] was over the Hills most of the Young Men with Warriours set
out for War, to different Places against the French and their Indians, so that
few Men were left at Home in any of the Towns, when the Northward came
in, and I believe might be one Reason of their not prosecuting their Design
to kill them, but it is reported Old Hap and the Little Carpenter were their only
Friends. It is certainly reported, by the Indians who went over the Hills in
order to assist.in the Execution of the Northward French Indians, that Old
Hap and some others, told the Enemy, that if they wanted War they should not
come against any of the seven Towns over the Hills, but that it was what they
would with the rest of the Nation to which the Enemy replied that the Towns
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upon Stecoe River were great Rogues, that they had killed many of their
People, and that they would have Revenge, this the Enemy certainly said
openly. It is said that most who were present did not approve of the Talk
which very much confirms the Effeminacy and Cowardlyness of these Indians
in general, and shews plainly they afraid of the Northward; if all this be litter-
ally true and which is affirmed by many who say they |55l "heard it and at this
Time is the Talk all over the Nation, it is most unaccountable and cannot be
judged to be said by a People, who had the least Thought of their own Safety,
for when the other Parts of the Nation are weakeried and reduced, these over
the Hills must suffer next, for as long as an Indian without being cvilized, lives,
he must be some where, or some Way shedding of Blood. It is not seemingly
in the Power of an Indian to project any Thing to the Advantage of Futurity.
It was reported over the Hills, and as I heard by the Creeks themselves
when there, that the Lower Towns, Kewohee especially, had sent into the Cawe-
tae’s to have their Traders killed, that the Creeks should first strike the Blow,
and that these were ready to follow. This, your Excellency, if true, will cer-
tainly be acquainted with from the Southward, but this both wants Proof and
Credit, the. Indians here not shewing by their Bch:mour, the least Inclination
thereto, or Symtom thereof, though an Indian I must confess will laugh in a
Man’s Face and immediately stick a Hatchet in his Seul. The Chief blamed
as Instigators, are Little Testoe and Wahatcha, which by themselves I cannot
immagine how they could effectuate, neither is it probable or possible.
April the 8th Mr. Butler sent me a Letter wherein he wrote that Richard
Smith left his House that Morning in order for Chote, to bring down the War-
riours with what Expedltxon he possibly could and likewise by the same Bearer
a Letter from Beamer to myself desiring me when they came to my Town to
hasten them forward with all the Expedition possible; the same Day Mr. Smith
returned in the Night to Tomatly having met Long Jack’s Brother in his Path
from Cheawee to Chote, who informed him, that the Warriours, the Little
Carpenter, Judd’s Friend, and the Great Warriour, were set off by Great
Terequa and twenty young Men for Burtheners in order as he said to bring
up the Ammuntion which they said lay for the Overhills Towns in the Fort
at Kewohee, but that he could not tell whether they intended any farther.
Smith the 9th of April went from Tomatly again to Canoste where the War-
riours were to pass to wait for them least they should go another Way, and
there at Canoste, and Iwassee staid three Days, and by a Fellow from Great
Terequa was informed at last that their Horses had run back to Chote, and that
the Warriours were gone back also. When I was over the Hills the Wamours
had agreed among themselves in eight Days to set off; some for Carolina and
some for Virginia, this was Old Hap’s particular Orders at that Time, but after-
wards, and but lately, I heard the Northward who came into.Chote, had told
these People that the Woods were full of Enemy, that the Virginia Path was
dreadful, and that if they went thither they would certainly be killed, which

made these People intirely break of that Design, so none are gone or will go
to the Northward.
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|56] The.13th Smith hearing the Warriors were gone back set of again
for Chote, being of Opinion, that he, Beamer, and the Warriours of the Lower
Towns (who he said were most uneasy to be gone to the English) when the
Overhills Warriours should come thither that they could persuade them to
proceed in Company with them to Carolina, Smith when he came at first to
this Valley, gave an Account that just as he was mounting his Horse, he heard
the Warr Hoop coming from Beamer’s Town, (Estertoe). The Messenger when
he arrived as is usual went to the Townhouse, where Smith also went, to hear
the News before he should set of for the Overhills; when he came there, before
he entered the House, two Warriours who were coming out, told him, that his
own Man and 2 French Man belonging to James Beamer, were Horse hunting:
on the 12 Mile River, that the French Man. had been that Day surprized by
a great Party of French Enemy, who tied him and were going to carry him
off; but that having spoke to them in French, they untied him, and turned him
about his Business, who when he came to Mr Beamer’s gave thc above Accourit -
and Smith’s Man was not returned home, neither to Beamer’s nor Kewohee
when the said Smith came off; it hardly seems credible that the Enemy would
have turned the French Man loose so near these Towns, but as these are so.
fearful of the Northward, and they so little afraid of them it may be true.
However your Excellency shall be informed of the Certainty thereof afterwards.

1 have mentioned before, of several Companies of these Indians over the
Hills, and am certainly told since, that Old Hap and others gave them Orders
not to hurt the French white Mén, only their Enemy Indians.  There is one
Findlay, a Virginia Trader, who says he knows most of the Indians came into
Chote and that he had traded among them, and that they were of the Mingoes,
one of and the Chief of the Six Nations belonging to the English, that when
the French came first there he himsclf was one of the Traders, they took Pris-
oners, and would have killed them, had not the Mingo Half King saved them,
by saying if they intended to kill an Englishman they must kill him first, and
that his Life aftér they had taken it would not go unrevenged. This Findlay
affirms for Truth, he likewise reports while he traded among the Northward
Indians, that if any of them brought in a Cherroekee Scalp, it was not looked
upon as a warlike Action, neither was he looked upon or rewarded, as if he had
killed any of another Nation because they say, the Cherrockees are but old
Women, that they can come into their Towns, eat and drink and take their
Wives before their Face, and when they go off kill them, whom they meet in
the Woods, [5'7] or go upon another Town, and the second Time they come
into the Nation be received as friendly as ever, which indeed I myself know
to be Truth. The Northward Indians have left two_ of their Gang in Chote
in order to go in Company with these People against the Chactaws, but I am of
Opinion they will alter their Resolution, and be afraid to trust themselves with
the Cherroekees in the Woods for they say they are a. tr&cherous and- false
hearted People.

The same Day the Northward went from Chote, some of t_hesc People
went out after to see which- Way they went, two of whom seperating themselves
from their Body in order as they said to kill a Deer or a Turkey, as they went
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seperately through the Woods, one happening to come within View of the
Northward as they went along the Path, and being afraid to be seen by them
as he reported, turned homewards, and as he was going along the Path he heard
two Guns fired at once, which made him make what Dispatch he could Home
to the Town, and not finding his Comrade to be returned Home, said he was
afraid he was killed, and gave the above Account. It being then too late to go
out to seek him, they deferred it till next Day, and then most of the Town in
the Morning, takmg the Fellow with them, to the Place where he heard the
Guns fire the Day before, and there they found the Man lie dead being scalpt
and shot with two Bullets in the Back. They found by him several Pieces of
Meat of Buffalos and Deer, some whereof was half barbekewed and some dry,
a looking Glass, and an old French Blanket half burnt, for the Enemy stayed
after [they] killed the Cherrockee to set the Woods on Fire, which proves
they were not much afraid of these People, they sent the Looking Glass to Chote
in order to discover whether it belonged to any of the Northward who had
gone off the Day before, but none knowing of it, and by the half roasted Buffalo
Meat, the Enemy left, they concluded that it was not those who went off the
Day before, who had killed the Cherroekee; however most are of Opinion if
they were others, that those who went from Chote must have seen them and:
talked with them, being both in the Path, where the Murther was committed.
There is nothing more probable than that the French will do what lies in their
Power either, to reduce or-‘conquer the upper Part of this Nation as soon as
convenient Oppertunity offers, which in my humble Opinion ought to be pre-
vented with what Expedition is possible, for if the Enemy once gets Possession
of the Overhills Indians all the others will quickly submit to haye their Lives
the Consequence of which would not only be expensive but fatal, at least, to the
out Settlements of the three adjacent Colonies; an Enemy is'not so easy dlsposr
sessed as hindred from faking Possession, which I am afraid will be the Case in
our Northward Expedition, which I pray God to favour and prosper. I know,
that two hundred Indians were they to come in over the Hills might do what
they pleased, especially if they |§8| came in as Friends, and these now behave
[siz] would be advised to any Conditions for their present Safety, as they would
think, for they have no Thought for Futurity, and am certain these Indians
bcmg at this Juncture so much insenced against the Traders in genera.l by their
being so much in Debt, and missing their last Winters Hurt, and complainirig
of the Traders chmtmg them, that they were reidy; and would entér intc any -
Measures to redress themiselves that: offered, with the Security of théir Lives;
these are also at present Suspicious of a Southward War, which if their be any
Reason for such Conjéctures your- Excellency will certainly know fiom ‘thence
so that they were every Wiy perplexed and- dxspmtted, and they expect many
Northward Enemies'upon thém this Summer. = -

The ' 19th of April three of Chote People had been in this Valléy, who in
their Way Home, as they were refreshing themselves by 2 [River?]: Side in-
the Path between Cheawee and Tallasee were set upon by the Northward
Enemy, the Woman and a young Fellow found dead, and the Man (who was

the Chote King’s Brother) not being -found is supposed to be cariied off or
kllled at some Distance.
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The 27th of April I came in Company with the Overhills Indians to
Kewohee, where by Old Hap’s Orders [they] desired an Express to be sent
to your Excellency, as is accordingly done, the Contents of which your Excel-
lency will see therein.

I have taken Notice before of several Complaints intended to be made
concerning the Trade and Traders; the Little Carpenter is the Man pitched
upon as Speaker. Your Excellency will I believe by what I can learn find him
impudent and unmannerly to a Degree almost above what can be suffered.

Axson is according to your Excellency’s Orders come down with the In-
dians, he is not much seemingly wanted by the other Interpreters, which 1 told
him not to mind but obey by all Means your Excellency’s Orders.

It is hard to affirm what these People say for Truth, for they talk com-
monly for the sake of talking, without any regard to Ruh’cy, and it is no great
Wonder seeing they are subject to no Law, and seldom the Checks of Con-
scdence, which if that happens, is quick]y stiffled by them. It is my Duty to inform
your Excellency of what happens in the Nation, that comes to my Knowledge,
but do not affirm all the Circumstances of my Intelligence, only the Matter of
Fact, for Truth, except I am an immediate eye or ear Witness, to it myself,
WhJch your Exce]_lency may easily perceive by my Letters.

May it please your Excellency as at this Juncture I am come down with
the Indians, and want much to have the Honour to talk to your Excellen
before thcy have the first Hearing; I humbly pray that I may be included in
one of your Exccllency s Protections, | §9| without which I cannot safely appear,
and although my Creditors can recover nothing of one in my Circumstances,
being utterly incapable to pay the least Mite, yet a Prison might cost me my
Life, though but a short one; and as 1 Ratter myself with the Happiness of
once more seeing your Excellency before I dic, so I must humbly beg Leave
with all Sincerity and Respect to subscribe myself,

Your Excellency’s most obedient, most obliged and most humble Servant,

Lup Grant

GEORGE GALPHIN TO GOVERNOR GLEN

[Cowetas], March 22d, 175§

May 11 PLEASE YOUR EXCELLENCY After I arrived in the Nation the
Twin came to me, and askt me if your Exoe]lency had paid me his Order; I
told him you expccted him down every Day and then you would satisfie him.
He says you promised when he was in Town to let him have whatever he sent
for. 1 got Mr. McGilvray to talk to him and we excused you as much as lay
in our Power. _

‘We have had such doing here with the French and Spaniards that I have
been obliged to give him upwards of £200 worth of Goods out of my own
Pocket to keep him in the Country’s Interest. :

The Governor of New Orlance is at Movel, and sent for the Twin and
the rest of the Head Men to receive Presents; there is a Suit of Cloaths for the
Twin that is 2l covered with gold Lace. There was a French Officer and 3
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Cadets came for him 3 Days after they were gone.. The Capt. of Horse of
Augustine and ten Spaniards arrived here to invite the Twin and all the Head
Men of the Lower Towns to St. Marks; I have stopped the Twin from going.
to both Places though there is about 100 of the Lower Towns People a going
down to St. Marks, It is a Pity there was not Presents always lying in the
- Nation to give the Head Men at such Time as this.

I am with the greatest Respect, your Excellency’s most obed:ent, humbl-=
Servant,

Groree GALPHIN

P. S. This Day two white Men came down from the Oakfuskes and
[said?] that the Indians there told them that the Talk was come up from the
Lower Towns to kill them, and they came down here to know the Certainty
of it. 1 told them we had no such Talks here. I sent for the Twin and asked
him if he knew any thing about it. He said it was Lies and there was no such
Talk went from here, 2and got me to write up to the Red Coat King that it was
Lies and not to behevc it. 1 have never seen the Indians behave better since
I have been abroad than they have done this Year. I understand there is 4 or
s White Men run off for Fear, and I suppose they will alarm the whole
Country with 2 false Report. These two Men told me that they hell the Trade
to 5 lb. Leather a Blanket they found it would ruin them, they came to an
Agréement and raised it to 8 Ib. again; (60| I told them perhaps that made
the Disturbances but they say not. It certainly must been the, Case as we have
had no bad Talkings here nor no likelyhood of any. There is not one Fellow
gone from hére to the Freach nor no Fellows of any Note gone down with the
Spamards I have been present at all these Talks here and they spoke no Harm
against the English neither them nor the Indians. The Savannahs is gone out
to meet another Party of their Nation that is coming to live in the Upper

Creeks. 1 have not heard how many there is of them. I was obliged to open
“the Letter after I sealed it.

I am with the greatest Respect your Excellency’s most obedient humble
Servant,

GEORGE GALPHIN

JOURNAL OF AN INDIAN TRADER

January 11th, 1755. Set out from Augusta for the Creck Nahon in Com-
pany with Mr. George Galphin, and arrived at.the Covetaws-the 22d without
any material Oocurrences in our Journey: At Mr. Galphin’s.Request I inter-
preted Governor. Reynold’s Letter-to Malatchi and some other Head Men;
he seemed much pleased, askt me several Questions about the new Governor,
such as, “whether he was an agreeable, good: natured, and frée spoken -Man;”
1 a.nswered him in the Affirmative and told him-that I never had the Honour
to see him, but that every Person that had the Happiness to be acquainted. with’
him: gave_ him. an extraordinary- Character; with--which- he was much pleased;
at the same Time enquired kindly. for his Brother the Governor: of Carolina;
Among several Matters, I enquired into the State of Affairs iniregard to the
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French, I found him much upon the Reserve and did not care to discourse upon
that Head. .

From the Covetaws proceeded for the Tuckebatchees Upper Nation, Was
entertained next Morning with Casseena in the Assembly House. 1 acquainted
Old Brekit and other Head Men, of Governor Reynold’s Arrival at his Gov-
ernment.and that he intended to have an Interview with the Cheifs of the
Indians, as soon as convenient, with which he was well pleased. Among several
other Matters we had a good deal of Discourse concerning the new Settlements
upon Hogetchee, which he let me to understand was very disagreeable to the
Indians in general; I made Answer that howsoever them Settlements might
be magnified to them, there was only a few Familys lately come from Virginia
settled there, and that I did not in the least doubt but the new Governor would
satisfie them on that Head.

Old Bracket did not faif to put me in mind of the great Services he did
the English in his youthful Days but now that he was neglected being old and
upon the Brink of the Grave, ready to step into it.

February. Very few Indians come in from their Hunts. A head War-
riour, who is a sensible Fellow and by Name Mad Wind had staid at Home
all Winter, came frequently to my House and among other Matters acquainted
me how that |61| the French made strong Efforts to set the Indians against
the English. He told me there was a grand Meeting of all the Creek Nation
held at the Albama at the Instigation of the French some Time last August
in order to negotiate a Peace between the Creeks and Chactaws; which being
concluded and that Affair being over, the French Linguist stood up and said
that he had an Affair of the greatest Importance to communicate to all the
Indians and desired them all to give Ear and be very attentive to what he was
about to tell them. That now the Time was come that they, the French, had
told them off long ago; that now the destructive and pernitious Designs of the
English towards the Creek Nation were brought to Light. That some of the
Lower Creeks were in the Cherrockees lately, and were told (as a great Secrete
by an old grey headed Indian) that there was a Scheme formed for the Destruc-
tion of the Creek Nation. (Vis.) That the Governor of South Carolina engaged
the Cherroekees to make a Peace with the Creeks with a View to destroy them;
that when the Creeks, depending on the Peace, should go to hunt with their
Women and Children in the Winter, then the Cherroekees at the Instigation
of the Governor of Carolina was to fall unawares upon them and destroy them
Man, Woman, and Child; which Piece of Service, when the Cherroekees had
performed, they were to be presented with two long Houses full of Goods,
such as fine scarlet Coats, Strouds, Duffles &. Then they were to follow their
Blow directly by an Army of English and Cherrockees and so lay waist the
whole Creek Nation. That likewise the old Man who told the Creeks this
Secrete begged not to tell their Author for if it was discovered he would be
surely put to Death, though for his Part he was an old Man and could not live
much longer by the Course of Nature if he was killed it would be only robbing
him of a few Days, and that he did not much care whether he was discovered or
not. The French told the Indians that all this was very true, that it was high
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Time for them to keep a sharp look out upon the English, and as for their
Parts (the French) they would assist their Friends the Creeks as a tender Parent
would his Children, therefore that it was the Interest of the Indians to adhere
close to the French; that they have had Letters from the English Governors
and received one 1atcly by an Enghshma.n desiring them to join in order to
destroy the Indians, but they never would join'in any such wicked and pernitious
Schemes against their beloved Children the Indians.

The French Languist further spoke and said when is the Day that ever us,
the French, encroached upon your Land? ?Tis true-you lent us a Span of Land
to build a Fort upon, and it is equally true, that we never offered, in the least,
to encroach further than what you granted us. But let me ask you does the
English observe the same just Rules? No, far from it; they, the English, en-
croach daily upon your Lands from Creek to Creek and from: River to River
until they have all at last, and yourselves along with it. We, the French, have
|62] often warned you of your Danger, and we now warn you, the Time is very
near at Hand; therefore look to yourselves and keep a sharp.look out, upon
the English. At this Meeting were present the Handsome Fellow (present
French Linguist) who took great Pains to persuade him of the Truth, Devall’s
Landlord, the Wolf, and Head Men of almost every Town in the Upper Creek
Nation.

I askt the Mad Wind how our commissioned Officers behaved during all
this French Harrangue? Replied there was not one of them had 2 Word to say,

but on the contrary the Story being laid out so plausable a great many believed
it and some of them that are looked upon as stauch Friends to the English;

but that the greatest Part of the Nation were at a Stand, and undera Constérna-
tion, did not know what to conclude. This Story bemg improved upon by
Head Men in the French Interest has kept the Indians in Confusion ever since.
I told my. Author that the whole of that Story was nothmg ‘more than a horrid
malitious Lie, invented by the French thinking to imp ﬁﬁ‘c;n the Simplicity
of the Indians, and get them to ruin their Nation by g ‘out with:'the
English, and then they would have all these Lands to themselves; that it is
rcmarkable by all Nations, wherever the French are known, their ‘constant
Practice i8 to set Nations together by the Ears to blood, shed and Slaughter. -

I discoursed with Devall’s Landlord, the Wolf, Yoa,ldy of the Okehoys,
and several other Heéad Meén and found all the foregomg Narration to be true
with a good many aggravating Additions. "The Gun"Merchant who was then
preparing to go and meet the Cherrockees in the Woods was advised from this

d Meeting, not to proceed, for Fear of this Plot laid ‘against the Creeks
by the Govérnor of Carolina. He (the Gun Merchant) made Answer, that

he could not nor would not believe that their great beloved Friends, the Eng-
" lish, had any such Designs; but if it was so, he would go'in to thc Cherrockees
and pay that Debt for them all.

March. In Coiéquence of an Invitation last August to Mobile Head
Men went thcre from almost every Town of the Upper Creeks, where they had
a Conferrence with the Governor of Orleans. ‘Towards the latter End of said
Month they afrived at 2 'Village inhabited by a few Appalatches Indians, some
Miles above Mobilé on the opposite Side the River, where they ‘waited for ten
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Days, with some Discontent, for the Arrival of the Governor from Orleans.
At length Boats arrived at the Appalatchs Town to take in the Indian Chiefs.
They put aboard and arrived at Mobile about Midnight, whefe there was not
one Soul waited to receive them nor conduct them to a-Ifodging. They ‘wan-
dered up and down the Town among the Houses looking for a Lodging, but
could find none; at last about the further End of the Town found a Heuse
where Carpenters had been lately at Work, where they'took up Lodgmg,

ing Use of the Shavings they found there- ’for Fire and Lodging:

' The Governor arrived at-Mobile next Day, landed undera full stcha'rgc
of the Fort’s Artillery and |63L the same Day welcomed the Indians at their
Lodging, being 2 long House built on Purpése for the Reception of Indians,
but not quite finished. The Day following the Governor, accompanyed by a
Number of Offcers, held a Conference with the Creek Chidfs, Ater the usial
Ceremony of welcoming them and the never failing Protestations of an invio-
lable and perpetual Friendship was over, the French Governor intimated how
necessary it was, for the Interest and Welfare of the Creek Nation, to adhere
close to the French who bad no other Designs than that of promoting their
Welfare and Happiness of the Creek Nation; that they, the French, would
never be slack in offering them their Advice and Assistance on all Occasxons,
which always did, and will tend towards the true Happiness of their Friends, the
Indians. But have the English the same Sentiments towards you? No, far
from it, notwithstanding that he (the French Governor) never was in the
English Country yet he knew their Designs as well as if he was, that he had
good Information notwithstanding the Distance so great, nay, red bloody
Letters brought him from the English Governor that it was plain their Design
is to take the Lands from the Indians. That the English encroached upon the
Indian Lands by great Strides was obvious to every Man that had his Eyes
open; therefore it was high Time for the Creeks to open their Eyes and keep
a sharp look out on the English, for they might be sure that three Years would
not expire before the Crecks would be at War with the English. Therefore
it was the Interest of the Indians to watch them well and oppose them before
they advanced too far and became too powerful for them.,

Notwithstanding the Governor’s fair Speeches, several of the Chiefs of
the Indians were discontented. They neither liked their Lodgings nor Enter-
tainment, and some of them would have come of privately, if Caré had not been
taken to clap Locks upon all the Boats in the Harbour. However the Indians
were kept there four or five Days, during which Time the Governor had a
Conference with the Indians every Day, in all that Time the greatest Part of
his Discourse tended towards spiriting up the Indians against the Encroach-
ments and pernicious Designs of the English, as he was pleased to term it.

At Length the Day came when the Indians were to receive their Presents.
Among other Discourse, the Governor told the Head Men of the Creeks that
they disobliged him very much in quarrelling and warring with the Chactaws,
who were his faithful Friends and Warriours, and were always engaged in
killing and destroying his Enemies the Chekesaws; it was trie that the Creeks
were his great Friends also, but as they did not think proper to join and help
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the French in the War against the Chekesaws, they ought not to hinder the
Chactaws from prosecuting that War, and they must not'do so:no more. He
likewise told them that he had no Occasion to expatiate upon the Reasons why
the French entered into a War with the Chekesaws, it was but too well known,
it was because the Chekesaws. protected and screened the Notchees (who had
done them inspeakable Damage) from their just Resentment. The Governor
askt the Creek Chiefs if the English made them such large Presents as he did?
Answer was made; by the Long Second Man Speaker, that the English Presents
were much larger, great Piles of Saddles, Red Coats, and other Goods in
Abundance. Chertee being present replied smartly, that the Long Second Man
was a Liar, that he (Chertee) was present last Time the Creeks were in Charles
“Town, that for his Part (the Long Second Man) he got nothing but a_mangy
Coat, [6}! a felt Hat, and some other Triffles of no Value; that the- English
took no Notice of him but called him a French Man, it being surmised hy the
English that he (the Long Second Man) was in the French Interest. . The Lie
being cramed down the Second Man’s Throat, before the Governor, so confused
him, that he did not know what Reply to make, so that Mr. Chertee carried
his Point, being helped and backed by the Governor, to the Shame and Con-

fusion of the other. The next Day the Creeks set out from Mobile and arrived
safe in their own Nation in a few Days.

" These Discourses of the French backed with Presents kept the Indians in
a kind of a Stir all the Winter; and the French Speeches were not a little helped
by a Parcell of Lies and Nonsense brought from the Lower Creeks to the
Upper. It was reported that a Lower Creck run away Fellow. who left the
Cherrockees last Fall (and came round by Augusta) pretended to find out
great Secretes in the Cherrockees, such as, that the Governor of Carolina built
a Fort in that Nation with 2 View to help the Cherrockees against the Creeks,
that he was likewise told by a Chekesaw Fellow (that resided about Augusta)
that the White People seemed to be ripe for 2 Breach with the Indians, and
thit a White Man should ask the said Chekesaw whether or no he would not
help the White People against the Creeks &c. This Narration, silly as it was,
raised 2 fresh Commotion, and to that Degree that some English Men in the
Oakfuskee and Okehoy were apprehensive of imminent Danger; especially
one Richard Henderson (a [Pack Horse] Man) run for Life bc,ing forwarned
of the Dangér by a. particular-friend-Indian, as he said.

. There was thrée more. White- Men left the Nation at the .same Time.
Jam& Germany thought proper to enquire of the Red Coat King, concerning
the Danger that was apprehended, who assured him there was none from them,
at the sime Time sent two white Men to the Lower Creeks to get further
Infoérmation. I hippened then to be at the Okehoys, in the Evening went to
the Cawledgees about three Miles in ‘my way Home. FEarly. next Morning
there came 2 Runner to me desiring my Attendance immediately at the -As-
sembly House, accordingly went, accompanied by Mr. Mclntosh, and - found

Capt. Goakly of the Okehoys and a2 Head Man of the Oakfuskees drmkmg
Cassecna who delivered hxmsclf as follows (viz.)
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“That it was a great Deal of Surprize and some Concern that he heard
“of the White People at the Oakfuskees being under 2 Consterndtion some of
“them already run away, and the rest ready to follow; that he was informed
“of it late the Night before and could not sleep all-Night for thinking what
“could be the Cause, or Reason of the White People’s being afraid, that James
“Germany told the Red Coat King that he sent a Letter by Henderson to warn
“the Government; and that if there was any real Dangér he would soon follow
“himself; from all which he inferred that there must have been some Letter
“from the Governor to order the Traders away, and which was kept a Secret
“from the Indians, that he could not imagine what could make the White
“People take such a Step without it was by Advice from the Government. It
‘“was, very certain, a bad Step and might be attended with bad Consequences
“for that some of their hot headed young Warriours, taking it for granted that
“it was spoiled, might do |65 Mischic% without considering what they were
“ﬂbout b

He further said “that he was very surc the English never need to appre-
“hend any Danger from the Upper Creeks, for they valued themselves upon
“their strict Adherence to the English that even when the last War broke out
“they had no Hand in it, but were at that very Time with an Army upon the
“Chactaws taking Rcvcnge for an English Gentleman that was killed in that
“Nation some Time before.” However if you know any thing of this Matter
pray be candid enough to tell me the Truth, for if there is any thing from the
Government you must certainly know of it. Therefore I came after you on
Purpose to know your Sentiments on this Affair.

I made Answer that T was as much surprized as he was, that for my Part
1 never would believe or think that the Creeks ever would harbour any bad
Designs against the English because it was inconsistent with the Welfare of the
Creek Nation. That all our Governors were very sensible of the strong Friend-
ship the Creeks had for the English, therefore would never believe any thing
to the contrary, that Germany’s Letter could not be of any Weight below, for
that I wrote a short Letter to both the Governor of Carelina and Georgia, and
not a Syllable of any such Thing mentioned, for you may be sure that the
Governors would naturally conclude, if there had been any such Thing as ewnil
Designs against the Country, that I would make mention of it in my Letters.
Besides our Governors have such a great Opinion of the strong and sincere
Friendship of the Creeks, that they never will believe that the Crecks will spil
a Drop of English Blood until it is actually done.

As to any Letters from our Governor, ordering the Traders out, I know
of none and 1 am sure there is none; and 1 very well know the Canse of our
People at the Oakfuskee’s being afraid. It is entirely owing to the malitious
Falshoods worked up by Runagadoes from the Cherrockees; and improved upon
by the Father and Mother of all Lies and Mischicf, the French. In short I
endeavoured to convince them of their Error, and told them not to give them-

selves any more Trouble about such idle Nonsense that did not deserve the
Attention of any serious Person.
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I took all Opportunities to confute what the' [French] were pleased to
advance in private and public, but the French have got Presents: to dispose of
and kriows very well how to apply.them which'is more preva.i-ling-with the
Indians than all the Rhetorick of' Aristotle and -makes my Discourse lost in the
Air very o&en, for Ments well apphed a.nd better timed can do a great many
Things. -

“April 22&. The Gun Merchant, being absent since last August, arrived
from Chote and Terrico in the Upper Cherrockees, ordered a general Meeting
of the whole Upper Nation (the Halbama Indians ificluded) at the Oakehoys,
in six Days ffom his Arrival. His Excellency, the Goveriior of South Carolina,
and likewise the Govetnior of Georgia having had wrote Letters to the Upper
Creeks, I thought it a-proper Opportunity [to interpret?] the said Letters to
the said Gun Merchart and the rest of the Head Men of that Nation; I accord-
ingly set out for the Oakehoys, two Days before the Time appomtcd for the
general Meeting, 66| to wait upon the Gun Merchant who told me that he
set out last August to meet the Cherrockees in the hunting Ground, accordingly
met them, eat, drank, and smoaked together in 2 very kind and friendly Mannér
continued together many Days with their Women and Children; amongst
several other Matters, that they conferred about the Nature of Trade in both
Nations, and finding that the Rates of Goods were much lower than in the
Creeks, the Gun Merchant sent some of his Head Warriours into Chote to
invite one of the Cheirotkée Traders to come out to the Hunting' Ground with
Goods to Trade with' the Creeks, which Invitation met with a ready Compliance,
and instead of one Trader, thcy had 2 good Deal to restrain 3 or four more
Traders from comeing out to trade with the Gun' Merchant and thirty of his
Warriours that were at Camp nwly half Way between the Creeks and Cher-
rockées,  However one Trader came out from Chote with 20 Horses and Goods.
Robert' Goudy accompanied by the Gun Merchant’s Warriors and "sorne Cher-
rockees, arrived at the hunting Camp, where, he traded with the Creeks, bought
all the.u' Deer Skins, and had Goods left which the Trader carried back with

him, left them no Hides to pay their Debts to the Trader that résides in their
Town.

. At the.same Time the Gun Merchant was- mvxtcd by t the ng of Chote,
which he. acoepted of and arrived safe at said Town, where he was. reccxvcd
with great Grandeur, settlcd all. Matters relative to the Peace subsisting between -
both Nations; and arrived safe in his own Nation (as above).. Agreeable to
the Time appointed the Head. Men of the Upper Creeks met the 27th, the
Halbamas and Tallapoosees exceptéd, Abeecoots, Savanas, and, Chekesaws who
did not attend. T interpreted the two Governor’s Letters to the Gun Merchant .
and the Head Men to which he thought proper to-make no Reply there. He
presented a Pipe, some Tobacco, dnd severall Strings of -White Beads, sent to
the whole-Creek Nation'by the Cherrockees as Emblems of Peace.. The-Gun
Merehant having véry elegantly delivered the Sentiments of the King of Chote
and all his Warriours and the usual Ceremonies upon such Occasions: being
over he, the Gun Merchant, addressed himself to me, Mr. Lach. McIntosh,
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Mr. Geo. Johnston, Mr, Jas. McQueen and self, bcmg the only Traders then
present,-as follows (Viz.)

[Guwn.].1.4am now about to make a Demand of you and-all the Traders in
our Nation, a2 Matter which I not only hope, but even insist that all of you $hall
immediately comply with; before I had an Opportunity of coming to the
Knowledge of a Cherrockee Trade 1 was easy without it, and had no Thought
of it, but.now that I am, I cannot be easy #ill I obtain it. ‘Theérefore I insist
that you will agree to it without Hesitation, if you do not it will be a Means to
stop me from going down to see the Governor. The Request I desire of you
is for the good of my People, I expect from henceforth that you Traders, here
present, and all the Traders in our Nation, will trade with us the same as
Traders do among the Cherrockees, Duffle Blankets at 6 lbs. Leather, Match-
coats of Strouds the same, and all other Articles the same as the Cherrockees,
to this 1 expect a ready Compliance which will prevent any further Stir or
Noise about it.

We cansulted what Answer to make |67] and concluded upon the following
(viz). That we were sorry we could not gratify him in his Request, that
Matters of such publick and great Consequence as that, ought to be decided be-
fore the Governor and Coundl that their Pleasure and Sentiments ought to be
consulted therein before the Traders could presume to conclude upon an Affair
that so nearly concerned the Publick and Government but that whereas that
he, the Gun, and other Head Men were invited down to see the Governor,
they would have an Opportunity of requesting the Government upon that
Head.

Tue Gun Mercuant in 2 great Heat replyed that he expected such an
Answer, but that he was not to be put of in that Manner as to going to see the
Governor he never would until he got the Trade the same as the Cherrockees.
That he and other Head Men of his Nation found by Experience that it was
of no Use to apply to the Governor on that Head, that they were told the
Traders might do as they pleased. Therefore insisted, that his Desire might
be directly complied with to prevent any further Consequences or Noise that
may attend a Denial. At this Time we were surrounded and bound up in Gun’s
House by all the Head Men (viz.) Gun, Red Coat King, Oakfuskee Capt.,
Helabbee Captain, Devall’s Landlord, Woolf, several other Head Men and
their mad Warriours, and their Visages pronosticated Wrath and Violence.

Tue Oaxrusker Caprawv in great Wrath spoke and said. 1 find there was
only three Head Men sent for, we have lost a great many Head Men already,
in paying Visits to your Governor it is high Time to desist from that Practice
and take a Resolution to lose no more, of the few that is left, in that Manner.

Gun. He wondered what the Governor’s Reasons could be for sending
for Head Men at this Juncture. Nothing was the Matter, all was in Peace
and Quietness and well affected, as to making them Presents that would be no
sufficient Reason because they could buy Goods of the Traders to supply their -
Wants. A Letter would be sufficient as for his Part he would never see Charles-
town, nor the Governor, he never would act in any Shape in any Affairs that
related to his Commission, neither would his Heart be at Fase or Rest but
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always be cross till he got a Cherrockee Trade for his People, and such of the
Traders as did not like that Trade would do well to go about their Business..
That last Time Head Men were in Charles:town one of his Head Warriours
was denied that Favour, which he, Gun, himself stomacked for some Time, but.
if. this Demand was granted now he would reassume his Commission and go
down to see the .Governor with a chearful -Heart. ‘
Answer—That but few of the Traders were then present, as he had thought
of making a Demand of that kind, ought to send for all the Traders that he
might know their Sentiments upon that Head. That severals of them were
at Savannah Town, that a few could not answer for all the rest of the Traders,
therefore could give no positive Answer to that Demand, besides that if all
the Traders were present, they could not pretend to give their Assent to an
Affair of so great Consequence without it was first done by the Governor and
Council, that was the proper Place for desiring a Favour of that Kind, that
Head Men now being sent for was a fair Opportunity, and ought to be a strorig
Motive to accept the Invitation with Chearfulness. That as to their loosing
some of their Head Men in our Settlements we were but too sensible of it,
and was sorry for it. That White People were |68| lost frequently in their
Travels to their Country, drowned in high Rivers, and many other Accidents
and besides Beloved Men or Agents came often among them and underwent
the same Hardships in travelling to the Indian Nation as their Head Men did
to Charles Town. That Custom of going to see the Governor was handed
dm to them by their Forefathers, thinking it absolutely necessary for 2 general
Good. '
' Tne WorLr Wirriour oF THE OKEHOYS interrupting the Discourse, in 2
furious Accent, said, that as to the Agents or beloved Men’s coming abroad
amongst them they never sent for-any of them, that no Instance.could be men-
tioned of that Kind; they (the Indians) had but a few Head Men left, it was
high Time for them to look out and take care of them, or they should loose all.
*Tis true the White People did not lay violent Hands upon them but was next
of Kin to it by sending for them to die there; and besides we know that you
Traders always did and will oppose any Favour of this Kind that we can demand
of your Government by being before hand with us in prepossing the Governor
against it. "That he, Wolf, stopped the Head Men from going, and- not -one
should go. Hespoke a good Deal more but being-in such a Fury éould not be
" The Gun repeated again that he took 2 Resolution never to sée the Gov-
ernor till he got a Cherrockee Trade for his, young People, to which he would
absolutely stand, that hé was not 2 Child to say one Thing Today and unsay it
Tomorrow. That all this Land was the natural Inheritance of the Indians,
even the very Grass, Trees, and every thing that grew upon it, and that such

of the Traders &c. -

-" . Answer. The Case being so, all that remained for us was to acquaint our
Governor of his Resolution, and the Reasons of his coming with the other
Head Mén to visit him according to the Invitation, that it was not’ within our
Province to comply with his Demand, otherwise should readily do it, but:
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any thing within-the Bounds of Reason we should readily comply with at zany
Time. -'Weé could ‘not think of - plunging ourselves in"the same Pitt as Cher-
rockeé l'Ptadm, dare not be ‘'seen, in- Charles"Town beside 2 new Governor
Georgia did not know his Sentxme.nts, or- Instructions  from his great Majasty
ng George.

“Gun, Well, as you insist upon the Neceemty of consultmg your Goverzor,
Il wiit till that can be done, though with 2 ‘good Deal of Irapatience;” -you
may téll him that the Reason of my not going down- was, beciuse you Cthe
Traders) would not consent to trade with my People the same as the Cher-
rockee Traders do with them, that I have seen the'Trade there with my own
Eyes;is perfectly sensible of the Difference, each of us are Friends to the same
Governiment, and ought to be used equally well; arid shall never desist, rior be
at Rest till I get the same Trade. We were cheated thei, but was nothing to
the Multitude of Skins we have thrown away Years past, shall expect an Answer
to this Demand by Midsummer at furthest, by the Linguist, and if this is
granted me then I shall with 2 chearful and joyful Heart, get up and trread
upon-the Pith to Charles Town in order to seé my Friend and Brother the
Governor; that he would expect 2 pr. of Stilliards with the Answer without Fail.

|69| Answer. That we would acquaint the Governor of his Demand and
that then all the Traders at Augusta and elsewhere would know of it also but
not to expect an Answer by any-particular Person, because something might
prevent him; but as there was several that understood the Langudge, in his

-Nation, could not be at a Loss, he might expect an Answer, though probably
not by the Time he mentioned.

All this happened in the Gun’s House and in the mean time there was an
Uproar in one End of the House, some of the Head Men accusing some of the
Traders, that were heard publickly to say that their Goods were their own, and
would dispose of them or glvc thcm away as they thought proper. That the
Traders at the Oakfuskee gave'\iEp same. Trade as was asked of the Governor
when the Head Men were last Time in Charles Town, and some Time since,
thern Traders rose their Trade to the Old Standard; from all these Circum-
stances they could not think otherwise but they were grosly imposed upon and
would know the Reason why or as the Creeks were always a Peoplc known
to be with great*

It may not be improper to hint at the Reason of this msolent Proceeding
by the Creeks, in order thereto it must be noticed, that when a Peace was pro-

posed between them and the Cherrockees, the Creeks had all along the Cher-
rockee Trade in View, angd was a strong Motive with them as well as in Com-
pliance with the Governor’s Request to a Peace with the Cherokees and though
the Crecks met with several Insults during the Preliminaries, they choose
rather put up with that than break of a Negotiation that would obstruct the
Hopes they had of obtaining a Cherrockee Trade. Agreeable to this Scheme
the Wolf Warriour of the Okehoys took upon him to conduct that Affair who
also brought in the Gun Merchant and other Head Men into the Scheme. The
Gun, Wolf Warriour, Helabbee Captain and other Head Men meeting the

“In the original, the remainder of the scatence is missing,
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